

LUND UNIVERSITY

Life Style, Molecular Pathology, and Breast Cancer Risk

Borgquist, Signe

2008

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Borgquist, S. (2008). Life Style, Molecular Pathology, and Breast Cancer Risk. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Translational Medicine]. Pathology (Malmö).

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00 Center for Molecular Pathology Department of Laboratory Medicine, Malmö Lund University Sweden

Life Style

Molecular Pathology

and

Breast Cancer Risk

Signe Borgquist MD



LUND UNIVERSITY Faculty of Medicine

Malmö 2008

Center of Molecular Medicine, Department of Laboratory Medicine, Malmö University Hospital, 205 02 Malmö, Sweden E-mail: signe.borgquist@med.lu.se

Illustrations: Maria Wingstrand Layout: Malin Goldman

Printed by MediaTryck, Lund, Sweden 2008

ISBN 978-91-85897-60-5

Life Style Molecular Pathology and Breast Cancer Risk

Signe Borgquist MD

Center for Molecular Pathology, Department of Laboratory Medicine, Malmö, Lund University, Sweden



LUND UNIVERSITY Faculty of Medicine

Doctoral Dissertation

By due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden, to be defended at the Main Lecture Hall, Department of Pathology, Malmö University Hospital, on Friday 8th of February at 9.00

Faculty opponent

Professor Per Hall, Stockholm

Supervisors

Professor Göran Landberg Associate Professor Jonas Manjer Associate Professor Karin Jirström

Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document name DOCTORAL DISSERTATION
	Date of issue February 8 [™] 2008
	Sponsoring organization
Author(s) Signe Borgquist	
Title and subtitle	
Life Style, Molecular Pathology, and Breast Ca	ncer Risk

Abstract: The breast cancer diagnosis covers a wide range of tumours with different geno- and phenotypic characteristics. The diversity among studies on life-style factors and their impact on breast cancer risk might be clarified by recognizing breast cancer as a heterogeneous disease. A major aim of this thesis was to investigate the association between several life-style factors and subsequent breast cancer risk according to pathological- and tumour biological characteristics. Further, we examined two novel tumour markers with respect to their relation to established tumour characteristics, estrogen-related-life-style-factors, and/or response to endocrine breast cancer treatment. The thesis is predominantly based on breast cancer cases from the Malmö Diet and Cancer Study, a prospective cohort study including 17 035 women with baseline examinations performed 1991-1996. The study cohort was followed by record-linkage with national cancer registries and at the end of follow-up in 2004, 622 women had been diagnosed with breast cancer. Additionally, we used a consecutive cohort of 512 women diagnosed with breast cancer at the Malmö University Hospital 1988 and 1992. Immunohistochemical assessments of different tumour markers were performed using the tissue microarray (TMA) technique. Analyses of dietary habits and tumour characteristics revealed an association between low energy intakes and a more aggressive histopathological phenotype as well as over-expression of the cell cycle regulating protein, cyclin D1. A low fat intake showed similar associations to tumour characteristics. The use of combined (estrogen-progestin) hormone replacement therapy was associated with an increased risk of breast cancer, although with comparatively favourable prognostics factors, such as lobular type, low grade, low proliferation, negative/low cyclin D1 expression and maintained expression of the turnour suppressor gene, p27. In a similar way obesity was associated with an increased risk of less aggressive breast cancer characterised by lobular type, grade II, low proliferation, HER2 negativity, ER α +, PgR+, but negative ER β expression. The enzyme HMG-CoA reductase was differentially expressed in breast cancer and high expression was associated with a smaller tumour size, low grade, low proliferation, and expression of ERa and ERB, but not PgR. Estrogen-related factors, such as obesity and use of hormonal replacement, were associated with an increased risk of tumours with high expression of HMG-CoA reductase. The novel estrogen receptor, ER β , was associated with expression of ER α and PgR, but not with other established prognostic factors, such as tumour size, grade, and lymph node metastases. Co-expression of both estrogen receptors indicated an improved response to endocrine therapy.

Key words: Breast cancer, histopathology, tissue microarray, hormone receptors, ERβ, tumour proliferation, cyclin D1, p27, HMG-CoA reductas, life style factors, diet, hormone replacement therapy, obesity, endocrine therapy

Classification system and/or index termes (if any):

Supplementary bibliographical information:		Language English	
ISSN and key title: 1652-8220	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	ISBN 978-91-85897-60-5	
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 143	Price	
	Security classification		

Distribution by (name and address) Signe Borgquist, Center for Molecular Pathology, Malmö, Lund University I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

December 18th 2007 Date

21 41 5 SIS eni DOKUMENTDATABLAD

Linjerne i et mønster løber undertiden den modsatte vej af, hvad man ventede. Men derfor er det alligevel et mønster.

Karen Blixen

To 17 035 women

Life Style Molecular Pathology and Breast Cancer Risk

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS	1
LIST OF PAPERS	4
ABBREVIATIONS	5
INTRODUCTION	6
TUMOUR CHARACTERISTICS	7
Tumour initiation and progression	7
Histopathology and tumour biology	7
Tumour type	7
Histological grade (NHG)	7
Tumour stage (TNM/NPI)	8
HER2	8
Hormone receptors	9
The estrogen receptor alpha, ERa	9
The estrogen receptor beta, $ER\beta$	9
The progesterone receptors, PgR	10
The cell cycle	11
Cell cycle aberrations in breast cancer	12
Proliferation	
HMG-CoA reductase	
HMG-CoA reductase in cancer	15
CLINICAL ASPECTS	17 17
Trootmont	17
Surgery	17
Radiotherany	17
Chemotherany	17
Endocrine therapy	17
Tamoxifen	
Aromatase inhibitors	19
Antibody therapy	
RISK FACTORS	20
Genetics	20
Diet	20
Anthronomotrics	- 11
Anun opometrics	
Weight BMI waist hin and hody fat percentage	
אייט אוייט איינא, אוייט אוויע אוויע איינען איינע איינען איינע איינען איינע איינען איינע איינען איינע איינען איי	22
Physical activity	22

Alcohol	
Smoking	
Socioeconomic status	
Endogenous hormones	23
Estrogen	23
Progesterone	
Exogenous hormones	
Oral contraceptives	
Hormonal replacement therapy (HRT)	
Reproductive factors	
AIMS OF THE THESIS	27
SUBJECTS AND METHODS	
Study cohorts	26
The Malmö Diet and Cancer Study (Paner I-IV)	
The Consecutive Breast Cancer Cohort (Paper V)	
Pathological re-evaluation	
Tissue microarray	
Immunohistochemistry	
Fluorescence in situ hybridization	
Statistical methods	
METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS	
Tumour classification and tissue microarray	
Antibody validation	
, Internal validity	25
Internal valiaty	
Misclassification	
Confounding	
Statistical considerations	
External validity	
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
Daner I	20
Paper 11	
Paper III	

Life Style Molecular Pathology and Breast Cancer Risk

Paper IV	44
Paper V	46
POPULÄRVETENSKAPLIG SAMMANFATTNING PÅ SVENSKA	49
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	52
REFERENCES	54
ORIGINAL PAPERS (I-V)	68

LIST OF PAPERS

The thesis is based on the following papers;

I	Borgquist S, Wirfält E, Jirström K, Anagnostaki L, Gullberg B, Berglund G, Manjer J, Landberg G Diet and body constitution in relation to sub-groups of breast cancer defined by tumour grade, proliferation and key cell cycle regulators <i>Breast Cancer Res. 2007; 9 (1):R11</i>
II	Borgquist S, Anagnostaki L, Jirström K, Landberg G, Manjer J Breast tumours following combined hormone replacement therapy express favourable prognostic factors Int J Cancer. 2007 ;120 :2202-7
III	Borgquist S, Jirström K, Anagnostaki L, Manjer J*, Landberg G* Anthropometric factors in relation to incidence of different tumour biological subgroups of postmenopausal breast cancer Submitted for publication
IV	Borgquist S, Djerbi S, Pontén F, Anagnostaki L, Goldman M, Gaber A, Manjer J, Landberg G, Jirström K HMG-CoA reductase expression in breast cancer is associated with a less aggressive phenotype and influenced by anthropometric factors <i>Submitted for publication</i>
V	Borgquist S, Holm C, Stendahl M, Anagnostaki L, Landberg G, Jirström K Estrogen Receptors a and β show different associations to clinicopathological parameters and their co-expression might predict a better response to endocrine treatment in breast cancer In press, Journal of Clinical Pathology, Feb 2008
	* These authors contributed equally as senior authors of the paper

All previously published articles and articles in press are reproduced with permission from the publishers.

Life Style Molecular Pathology and Breast Cancer Risk

ABBREVIATIONS

BCSS	breast cancer specific survival
BMI	body mass index
CI	confidence interval
CIS	carcinoma <i>in situ</i>
CDK	cyclin dependent kinase
CHRT	combined hormone replacement therapy
DFS	disease free survival
ER	estrogen receptor
ERa	estrogen receptor alfa
ERβ	estrogen receptor beta
EREs	estrogen responsive elements
ERT	estrogen replacement therapy
FISH	fluorescence in situ hybridization
HER2	human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
HMGCoAR	3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A reductase
HRT	hormone replacement therapy
IHC	immunohistochemistry
MDCS	Malmö Diet and Cancer Study
MUFA	monounsaturated fatty acids
NHG	Nottingham Histological Grade
NPI	Nottingham Prognostic Index
OC	oral contraceptives
OS	overall survival
PgR	progesterone receptor
PUFA	polyunsaturated fatty acids
SFA	saturated fatty acids
ТМА	tissue microarray

INTRODUCTION

Breast cancer is the most common malignancy among women worldwide and accounts for more than one million incident cases each year (Bray et al. 2004, Kamangar et al. 2006). In Swedish terms, that is a yearly incidence of 7000 women diagnosed with breast cancer and a life time risk of 10-15 % (The National Board of Health and Welfare, 2006). Over the past 20 years the breast cancer incidence has increased globally (Althuis et al. 2005) which corresponds to an increase of 1.4 % per year in Sweden (The National Board of Health and Welfare, 2006). Incidence and mortality rates generally co-varies, but vary across countries (Althuis et al. 2005). In Sweden, mortality has improved with a decrease of 14 % from the 70's to the 90's (Althuis et al. 2005). However, breast cancer still remains the leading causes of cancer death among women (Bray et al. 2004). The prognosis for Swedish breast cancer patients corresponds with a 5-year survival of 86% and a 10-year survival of 75% (The National Board of Health and Welfare, 2006). The risk of breast cancer is indeed age-related and less than 1% of breast cancer patients are younger than 30 years at diagnosis (Shannon et al. 2003). The incidence increases along with age and peaks at the age of 60-64 years (The National Board of Health and Welfare, 2006).

Several risk factors have been identified and many of them are associated with total lifetime hormonal exposure, endogenous as well as exogenous hormones. Early menarche, late menopause, a low number of full-term pregnancies, and late age at first childbirth consequently lead to higher cumulative estrogen exposure. Obesity increases estrogen levels, however, the influence on breast cancer risk differs depending on menstrual status at the time of obesity (Daling et al. 2001). Furthermore, estrogen levels are altered by exposure to oral contraceptives (OC) and hormonal replacement therapy (HRT). Other life style factors such as smoking- and alcohol habits, physical exercise, and dietary intake, most likely influence breast cancer risk although the results from different studies are ambigious. American studies on migration patterns in relation to breast cancer risk report an increase in breast cancer incidence among Asian-American women compared to Asian women suggesting a substantial impact on breast cancer risk when exposed to a Western lifestyle (Deapen et al. 2002, Ziegler et al. 1993).

The breast cancer diagnosis covers a wide range of tumours with different geno- and phenotypic characteristics. The diversity among studies on life-style factors and their impact on breast cancer risk might be clarified by recognizing breast cancer as a heterogeneous disease. In this thesis, the aim is to further study the association between life style related factors and breast cancer risk in relation to different molecular subgroups of breast cancer. This approach might improve the understanding of the impact of various risk factors and, hopefully, contribute to future prevention strategies. Furthermore, the identification of novel biological markers in breast cancer may add predictive value to existing therapeutic strategies.

TUMOUR CHARACTERISTICS

Tumour initiation and progression

Carcinogenesis is a multi-step transformation process (Hanahan et al. 2000). The initiation is most likely due to loss of DNA-damage check points leading to uncontrolled cellular proliferation. Tumour cells acquire genetic and epigenetic changes resulting in growth advantages and eventually become self-sufficient in growth signals, stimulation of angiogenesis, insensitive to inhibitory signals, and obtain capability of tissue invasion as well as shedding metastasis (Hanahan et al. 2000).

The majority of breast cancers originates from the inner layer of luminal epithelial cells in the ducts, but may develop from the lobular units as well. The conventional tumour progression model based on morphological characteristics describes an onset from normal breast tissue, via hyperplasia, atypical hyperplasia, carcinoma in situ and subsequently to invasive cancer. However, the molecular basis of disease progression in breast cancer remains poorly understood, but the introduction of high-throughput molecular profiling techniques has created unique possibilities for understanding and refining the tumour progression model (Rennstam et al. 2006). Simpson *et al* have proposed a model in which the role of de-differentiation is diminished and replaced by three rather distinctive pathways based on modern molecular profiling; one pathway for poorly differentiated, basal-like tumours likely to use shortcuts, and, in between, intermediate grade II tumours with different pathways (Simpson et al. 2005).

Histopathology and tumour biology

All breast tumours are diagnosed and characterised according to standardised national protocols describing tumour size and type, invasiveness, histological grade, tumour stage, and expression of ERa (estrogen receptor a), PgR (progesterone receptor), and with the latest being HER2. Future diagnostic methods will probably include a variety of newly identified markers in molecular pathology.

Tumour type

The WHO-classification system (1982) used today describes mainly six different histological types with invasive ductal carcinoma being the most frequent diagnosis accounting for approximately 80% of all invasive breast carcinomas. Invasive lobular carcinomas compose another 10-15%, and the remaining proportion of invasive tumours consists of smaller groups such as mucinous, medullary, papillary, and tubular carcinomas. The prognostic value of tumour morphology is limited (Arpino et al. 2004, Jayasinghe et al. 2007, Mersin et al. 2003), despite differences in size, receptor expression, and metastatic properties (Arpino et al. 2004). Recent reports have proposed a treatment predictive value of tumour type when applying preoperative chemotherapy in favour of ductal type (Cristofanilli et al. 2005, Wenzel et al. 2007).

Histological grade (NHG)

Nottingham Histological Grading (NHG) was introduced by Elston and Ellis in 1991 (Elston et al. 1991) and is mandatory in breast cancer classification. NHG include three

parameters; (1) the percentage of open, tubular structures within the epithelial component of the invasive tumour, (2) grade of nuclear atypia, and (3) the number of mitoses. Each parameter is graded from 1-3, and the tumour grade is the sum of these three parameters. A sum of 3-5 corresponds with a grade I tumour; a sum of 6-7 with grade II tumours, and 8-9 points represents poorly differentiated grade III tumours. NHG is an established prognostic parameter (Elston et al. 1991), although the reproducibility has been questioned and recent studies suggest further refining, especially for mitotic count (Genestie et al. 1998, Mirza et al. 2002).

 Table 1
 Nottingham Histopathological Grading according to Elston and Ellis. (Adapted from Regional Oncologic Center, Uppsala/Örebro Region, 2007)

Nottingham Histopathological Grading (NHG)		Score
Percentage of tumour	>75%	1
area	<10% t <75%	2
composed of tubules (t)	<10%	3
Mitotic count in 10	<10	1
high power fields	10< m <20	2
	>20	3
Nuclear pleomorphism	Uniform, equally sized small nuclei, no nucleoli	1
	Median size nuclei, moderate pleomorphism, nucleoli	2
	Large abnormal nuclei, pronounced pleomorphism, nucleoli	3
Sum – NHG		
Grade I	Well differentiated	3-5
Grade II	Moderately differentiated	6-7
Grade III	Poorly differentiated	8-9

Tumour stage (TNM/NPI)

The TNM classification system includes tumour size (T), axillary lymph node status (N), and distant metastasis (M). TNM is a useful system for comparison of clinical data and assessment of treatment outcomes. The value of the TNM system is continuously disputed (Benson et al. 2003), yet, in Swedish clinical praxis, TNM still plays a major part in the daily management of breast cancer and is fundamental for treatment recommendations. Each parameter in the TNM system is an independent prognostic factor (Cianfrocca et al. 2004) and the prognostic value of TNM is consequently high. Nottingham Prognostic Index (NPI) takes tumour size, NHG, and axillary lymph node status into account. NPI is estimated for all invasive breast tumours in the pathology protocol, and act as an important prognostic parameter (D'Eredita et al. 2001, Eden et al. 2004).

HER2

The human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) belongs to the EGFR family of trans-membrane receptors (HER1, HER2, HER3, HER4). The HER2 signalling is mediated through heterodimer formation with either of the family members (Earp et al. 1995, Zaczek et al. 2005).

In today's clinical practice, breast carcinomas are classified as 0, 1+, 2+, or 3+ based on protein expression in IHC analyses (Herceptest®). HER2 gene amplification is analysed

for all 2+ and 3+ carcinomas using fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) (Dowsett et al. 2003). A tumour is considered HER2 positive if classified as 3+, or 2+/HER2 amplified.

In general, the frequency of HER2 positive breast cancer is estimated to be around 20% (Revillion et al. 1998). Over-expression of the HER2 protein and/or amplification of the HER2 gene are associated with aggressive tumour features and poor prognosis (Cianfrocca et al. 2004, Lohrisch et al. 2001).

Hormone receptors

The estrogen and progesterone receptors are members of the nuclear receptor superfamily of transcription factors regulating gene expression in response to endocrine signalling. To date, four different hormone receptors have been identified; estrogen receptor a, estrogen receptor β , progesterone receptor A, and progesterone receptor B.

The estrogen receptor alpha, ERa

ERa has three major functional domains; the AF-1 (ligand-independent domain), the DBD (DNA-binding domain), and the AF-2 (ligand-dependent activation domain) (Webster et al. 1988, Weigel et al. 1998). In assembly with estrogen the receptor undergoes conformational changes which allow for its binding to EREs (estrogen responsive elements) on target genes leading to gene transcription. Transcriptional activation is mediated by a number of co-regulating proteins and recruitment of co-regulators provide the receptors extensive functional flexibility (McKenna et al. 1999, McKenna et al. 2002). The ERa can also be activated in an estrogen independent manner by phosphorylation (Weigel et al. 1998).

ERa is expressed in the terminal duct lobular units in normal breast tissue, however in lower concentrations compared to breast cancer tissue (Clarke et al. 1997). ERa expression seems to alter along with breast cancer progression; in normal ductal epithelium around 10% of the cells have elevated ERa levels (Clarke et al. 1997), whereas in breast cancer the number is around 75% (Allred et al. 2004). In hyperplasia, ERa expression has been shown to correspond with increased risk of developing invasive cancer (Shaaban et al. 2002). The low ERa levels in normal breast tissue show an inter-individual variation, and additionally, women with high ERa levels have an increased breast cancer risk (Khan et al. 1994). Taken together, an elevated ERa expression might be one of the earliest events of breast cancer initiation and progression.

In vivo studies show that ERa knock-out mice do not develop mammary glands and are infertile whereas depletion of the ER β does not influence mammary development and fertility (Couse 1999, Krege 1998).

The estrogen receptor beta, ERß

During decades, ERa was recognized as the only estrogen receptor. However, in 1996 a novel estrogen receptor was identified and named ER β (Kuiper et al. 1996, Mosselman et al. 1996). The gene encoding for ER β is located on chromosome 14 (Enmark et al. 1997), whereas the ERa gene is located on chromosome 6 (Menasce et al. 1993).

The estrogen receptors differ in the aminoterminal AF-1 region (Paech et al. 1997), which is the location for interaction with other proteins in the transcriptional machinery; and to a less degree in the ligand-binding domain, AF-2 (Ogawa, Inoue, Watanabe, Hiroi et al. 1998). Despite these differences, ER β and ER α bind to estrogen with a similar affinity

(Ogawa, Inoue, Watanabe, Orimo et al. 1998), and neither does the binding affinity to DNA differ considerably (Kuiper et al. 1996). ER β expression is relatively high in the normal breast (Shaw et al. 2002) with a decreased expression along with disease progression and an altered ER β -ERa ratio (Shaaban et al. 2003, Skliris et al. 2003). ER β expression does not appear to provide significant prognostic information in contrast to ERa, whereas a treatment predictive value of ER β has been reported (Esslimani-Sahla et al. 2004, Hopp, Weiss, Parra et al. 2004).

The often contradictory results regarding the role of ER β could be explained by the presence/absence of several splice variants, in particular ER β -ex (Palmieri et al. 2002). ER beta splice variant, ER β -ex is a dominant negative repressor of ERa and has no measurable affinity for estradiol (Ogawa, Inoue, Watanabe, Orimo et al. 1998). Hence, ER β -ex represents a potential confounder in the already complex estrogen receptor story (Palmieri et al. 2002).

Recently new insights on the interaction between the two estrogen receptors reveal that ER β acts by antagonizing ERa on a very specific subset of estrogen-stimulated genes and actively prevents ERa stimulated cell growth (Lin et al. 2007) and suggestively, ER β status may be a major driver for clinical heterogeneity in ERa positive tumors.



Figure 1 Schematic illustration of the estrogen receptors with the percentage of homology between protein domains listed. A/B: Transactivation domain; C:DNA binding domain; D:Dimerisation domain; E: ligand binding domain; F: Transcriptional modulation Adapted from Gruvberger-Saal, 2005.

The progesterone receptors, PgR

Another nuclear hormone receptor is the progesterone receptor which exists in two isoforms, PgR-A and PgR-B. They represent two structurally and functionally distinct nuclear receptors arising from a single gene (Conneely et al. 2003). PgR-A and PgR-B differ in their capacity as a transcription activator with PgR-B being the most powerful and further, the most predominant regulator of breast cancer cells (Soyal et al. 2002). The PgR is localized downstream of the ERa and PgR expression is dependent of estrogen stimulation (Flototto et al. 2004). Yet, recent studies indicate an estrogen independent PgR functioning pathway as well.

Most clinical studies evaluating the prognostic and predictive value of progesterone expression have not taken PgR isoforms into account. However, Hopp *et al* reported poorer disease-free survival among women with PgR-A high tumours, which was interpreted as tamoxifen resistance (Hopp, Weiss, Hilsenbeck et al. 2004). Both isoforms are recognized by the clinically used antibody, and generally referred to as PgR.

In ERa positive breast cancer, negative or low expression of PgR have been associated with more aggressive features like aneuploidy, high proliferation, HER1- and HER2 over-expression (Arpino et al. 2005). Not only is PgR expression a prognostic factor, the predictive role was identified 30 years ago (Horwitz et al. 1975), and several studies has confirmed the initial results (Arpino et al. 2005, Bardou et al. 2003, Stendahl et al. 2006).

The cell cycle

The cell cycle forms the basis for the reproduction of all cells and is fundamental for proliferation and development in all tissues of the human body. The cell cycle consists of four active phases and two restriction points;

- G0 phase; the cell is waiting for a signal to enter the cell cycle (quiescent phase).
 G1 phase; the cell is preparing for multiplying its genome by checking for any damages.
- S phase; DNA replication takes place (synthetic phase).
- G2 phase; the cell is preparing for division.
- M phase; cell division occurs (mitotic phase).

The G1/S restriction point is regulated by cyclin D1, D2, D3, and cyclin E in cooperation with their specific cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs). D-type cyclins and CDK4 and CDK6 form complexes, which enter the nucleus and phosphorylate the Rb protein, and eventually lead to transcription of genes required for entrance into the S-phase. In complex with CDK2, cyclin E further phosphorylates pRb, and the cell enters S-phase. The G2/M restriction point symbolizes the final check point before the cell is allowed to enter the mitotic phase and divide.

The formation of cyclin-CDK complexes stimulates the cell to "cycle", whereas the CDK inhibitors exert the opposite effect. CDK-inhibitors, which are potential tumour suppressor gene products, can be divided into two families. The CIP/KIP family includes p21, p27 and p57, which all inhibit the cyclin E/CDK2 complex. The INK4 family consists of p15, p16, p18 and p19, potential inhibitors of the cyclin D-CDK4/6 complex. Levels of cyclins vary during cell cycle, and are rapidly degraded after having completed their mission. CDK levels are, however, rather constant during the cell cycle.

In the development of the normal breast, cyclin D1 and p27, play essential roles. *In vivo* studies have shown that cyclin D1 deficient mice fail to develop normal mammary epithelium of the lobularalveolar system, and consequently impaired lactating capacity (Sicinski et al. 1995). Overexpression of cyclin D1 in the normal mammary glands has been shown to stimulate proliferation and eventually lead to the development of breast carcinomas (Wang et al. 1994). *In vivo* studies on p27 deficient mice report an observed multiorgan hyperplasi, but impaired mammary development and infertility (Deans et al. 2004, Fero et al. 1996).





Figure 2 Schematic illustration of the cell cycle (Reprinted from "the biology of Cancer" by Robert A. Weinberg, 2007. Copyright Garland, Science, Taylor & Francis Group, LLC. With permission)

Cell cycle aberrations in breast cancer

In breast cancer cells the cell cycle is often deregulated at the G1/S restriction point controlled by cyclin D1, cyclin E, and CDK inhibitors (Landberg 2002, Sutherland et al. 2004).

Cyclin D1 represents a downstream target for the estrogen mediated activation of the estrogen receptor a thereby providing cyclin D1 with an important role in ERa-induced proliferation in breast cancer cells (Planas-Silva et al. 1997, Resnitzky et al. 1994). Additionally, cyclin D1 can act in an estrogen-independent manner and exert its oncogenic activity by recruiting co-factors (McMahon et al. 1999).

Cyclin D1 protein overexpression is a relatively common event and has been reported in 25-50 % of all invasive breast cancers, whereas amplification of the CCND1 gene, coding for cyclin D1, is observed in around 15% (Gillett et al. 1994, Ormandy et al. 2003). Cyclin D1 overexpression increases proliferation (Lukas et al. 1994), yet the prognostic value of cyclin D1 over-expression remains to be fully clarified. Conflicting results have been published and report both reduced and improved prognosis associated with cyclin D1 overexpression (Hwang et al. 2003, Kenny et al. 1999, van Diest et al. 1997). The predictive value of cyclin D1 overexpression in tamoxifen treated women has received further attention lately, suggesting cyclin D1 overexpression to be a potential marker for tamoxifen resistance (Stendahl et al. 2004). In a study of premenopausal women, amplification of the CCND1 gene was associated with adverse effects of tamoxifen (Jirstrom et al. 2005).

Elevated levels of cyclin E may arise either indirectly through mutations in upstream mitogenic pathways, by gene amplifications or by obstructed proteolysis (Moroy et al. 2004). Several studies indicate that not only does cyclin E overexpression induce an aberrant cell cycle progression; it also leads to increased chromosomal instability. Cyclin E might therefore have multiple functions potentially involved in tumorigenesis. Cyclin E is commonly overexpressed in ERa negative breast cancer, and generally, high levels of cyclin E is correlated to a poorer outcome (Keyomarsi et al. 1994, Nielsen et al. 1996, Nielsen et al. 1999).

The tumour suppressor gene, p27, acts as an important inhibitor of the cyclin E/CDK2 complex thereby inhibiting further oncogenic activity (Slingerland et al. 2000). Decreased p27 protein expression is frequently observed in several malignancies, and the mechanism behind this appears to be caused by increased protein degradation exerted by other proteins rather than p27 gene mutations (Slingerland et al. 2000). Low p27 expression has been associated with increased proliferation and high levels of cyclin E (Cariou et al. 1998, Gillett et al. 1999). In survival studies, p27 expression seems to be an independent prognostic factor, implicating a reduced recurrence-free survival associated with low p27 levels (Cariou et al. 1998).

Proliferation

The net result of cell cycling is cellular proliferation, which is regarded as an independent prognostic factor in breast cancer. The rationale behind this is that haematogenous spread metastases is an early event, thus prognosis depends on the growth of metastases rather than presence or absence of micro-metastasis (van Diest et al. 2004). Different methods are applicable for assessment of tumour proliferation. Mitotic count represents one of the parameters on which NHG is based and is considered an established and reproducible proliferation parameter (van Diest et al. 2004). Ki67 is a proliferation associated antigen expressed in "cycling" cells, and Ki67 labelling index correlates well with mitotic count and S-phase fraction (Spyratos et al. 2002). Furthermore, topoisomerase IIa and cyclin A are recently identified markers of proliferation activity displaying independent prognostic values (Bukholm et al. 2001, Rudolph et al. 1999).

Signe Borgquist



Figure 3 Example of an ERa positive grade I breast cancer with low proliferation and high p27 expression. Panel A shows routine Hematoxylin & Eosin staining. Panel B, C, and D show immunohistochemical staining for Ki67, ERa, p27, respectively.

HMG-CoA reductase

HMG-CoA reductase (HMG-CoAR) is a 90-97 kDa transmembrane glycoprotein residing in proteosomes and the endoplasmatic reticulum, respectively (McGee et al. 1996). HMG-CoAR act as a rate-limiting enzyme in the mevalonate pathway (Goldstein et al. 1990) and is required for the synthesis of isoprenoids. Cholesterol represents the main product of the isoprenoid synthesis and forms the basis of all steroid hormones and is fundamental in membrane biogenesis (Di Croce et al. 1999). The other isoprenoid compounds are essential in the regulation of cell signalling by post-translational modification of proteins necessary for cellular proliferation (Kato et al. 1992). HMG-CoAR expression is regulated at different levels counting gene transcription, mRNA stability, translation, and enzyme degradation (Di Croce et al. 1996). Continuously acting feedback mechanisms assure the maintenance of adequate isoprenoid levels.



Figure 4 The mevalonate pathway. Reprinted from Liao (Liao 2002). Copyright, 2002, with permission from Journal of Clinical Investigation.

HMG-CoA reductase in cancer

In cancer cells, HMG-CoAR activity is elevated and the normal sterol feedback regulation disrupted (Mo et al. 2004). The increased HMG-CoAR levels in tumours might reflect an increased demand of non-sterol isoprenoids to maintain growth advantages (Mo et al. 2004). Both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies on breast cancer have demonstrated how mevalonate is required for DNA-synthesis, cell proliferation, and subsequently tumour growth (Duncan et al. 2004, Wejde et al. 1992).

It has been shown that estrogen affects HMG-CoAR activity (Cypriani et al. 1988, Di Croce et al. 1996), although the molecular mechanisms are not fully understood. Recently, Croce et al identified an estrogen-responsive-element (ERE) on the HMG-CoAR gene, proposing a potential way of mediating estrogen induced effects on the HMG-CoAR gene (Di Croce et al. 1999).

The mevalonate pathway represents a potential target for cancer prevention and chemotherapy. Most epidemiological studies agree on the preventive and therapeutic effects of lipophilic HMG-CoAR inhibitors (statins). Preclinical studies support the anti-tumoural effects of statins and have reported anti-proliferative, proapoptotic, anti-invasive, as well as radiosensitizing properties of statins (Chan et al. 2003).

Several dietary components are potential inhibitors of HMG-CoAR activity. Plant isoprenoids are derived from vegetables, grains, and essential oils of fruits (Crowell 1999). Genistein is derived from soy and possess estrogenic potential. Polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), mainly from dietary fish oils, and cholesterol, represent further sources of naturally occurring HMG-CoAR inhibitors (Duncan et al. 2005). Both in vivo and in vitro studies have observed anti-carcinogenic activity following administration of naturally occurring HMG-CoAR inhibitors, and the underlying mechanism is proposed to be inhibition of HMG-CoAR activity.

CLINICAL ASPECTS

Diagnostics

During the past decade, the breast cancer diagnosis has been based on the triple diagnostic procedure including clinical examination, mammography, and fine needle aspiration. The combined triad of tests provides a sensitivity of 100% and a negative predictive value of 100% allowing triple-negative individuals surveillance instead of an open biopsy (Kaufman et al. 1994). In case of suspicious cancer in any of the diagnostic procedures, further investigation is initiated, primarily using surgical biopsy, alternatively MRI or ductography.

Treatment

Breast cancer treatment comprises both local and systemic approaches. These approaches represent a wide range of options applied in different phases of the disease, and comprise surgery, radiotherapy, chemotherapy, endocrine therapy, and antibody therapy.

Surgery

Primary surgery is applied for most patients, and performed either in a breast conserving manner or as mastectomy. The surgical treatment of choice depends on several factors, i.e. tumour size, breast size, tumour growth pattern, and finally, and most importantly, the patient's prerequisites. Following the introduction of the sentinel node (SN) technique, axillary surgery procedures have been modified. The sentinel node technique is appropriate in cases of smaller tumours and no indications of axillary metastasis. Otherwise, or in cases with positive sentinel node, axillary dissection is performed aiming at a minimum of ten examined lymph nodes. Surgery is generally not recommended in case of generalised disease at diagnosis.

Radiotherapy

In order to reduce the risk of loco-regional recurrences, women with invasive breast cancer should receive adjuvant radiotherapy to the remaining breast following breast conserving surgery (Malmstrom et al. 2003). Among women with locally advanced breast cancer, radiotherapy to the chest wall and loco-regional lymph nodes is applied following mastectomy. Postoperative radiotherapy to high-risk pre- and postmenopausal women has been shown to reduce the risk of local recurrences and improve survival (Overgaard et al. 1997, Overgaard et al. 1999).

Chemotherapy

Chemotherapy is applicable both in the neo-adjuvant, the adjuvant and in the palliative setting. Poly-chemotherapy is recommended in the neo-adjuvant and the adjuvant setting (2005). The rationale behind combining several drugs is the potential synergistic effects and different toxicity profiles which allow for more intense treatment modules. Neo-adjuvant treatment is primarily indicated in non-operable, locally advanced breast

cancer (T3-T4 tumours) and seems to generate improved local control and survival (Bergh et al. 2001). Today, adjuvant chemotherapy is indicated in case of grade III, T2, or ERa negative tumours, independent of the patient's age. For lymph node positive patients, age is taken into account in the decision of chemotherapy or not. Combination therapy is frequently used as first line therapy in the palliative setting, whereas single agent therapy is often applied in case of further recurrences.

Endocrine therapy

The aim of endocrine therapy is to diminish the stimulation of hormone sensitive breast tumour cells by estrogens.

Elimination of ovarian hormone production can be achieved by three methods; oophorectomy, radiotherapy of the ovaries, or medically induced ovarian suppression using gonadotropin-releasing-hormone (GNRH) agonists. Ovarian suppression, in either way, is predominantly applied in premenopausal women.

Two different groups of drugs with anti-estrogenic effects are applied in the adjuvant setting; selective estrogen receptor modulators (SERMs, i.e tamoxifen) and aromatase inhibitors (AI, i.e. anastrazole, letrozole, exemestane).

Tamoxifen

Tamoxifen has been essential in breast cancer management since the early 70s and was initially used in patients with advanced disease (Cole et al. 1971), and only later on tamoxifen became an established drug in the adjuvant treatment of ERa positive postmenopausal breast cancer (1988). Since 1996, five years of adjuvant tamoxifen treatment has been recommended to postmenopausal women with breast cancer, based on the Swedish SBCG study (1996) and confirmed in several studies later on (1998). However, the recent introduction of aromatase inhibitors (AIs) has changed the management of postmenopausal breast cancer. In Sweden, tamoxifen is currently used in the adjuvant setting in N0 breast cancer with tumour size more than 10 mm independent of age. In N+M0 breast cancers, premenopausal women are recommended adjuvant tamoxifen 2-3 years followed by 2-3 years of AIs) or single therapy with AI depending on age and other risk factors (Regional Oncology Center, Uppsala/Örebro, 2007).

The anti-tumoural effect of tamoxifen is mediated by competitive binding to the ERa, and the tamoxifen-ERa complex probably prevents activation of co-activators resulting in deprived transcription of estrogen-regulated genes thus inhibiting cell proliferation (Shiau et al. 1998). The agonist effects of tamoxifen are well-known in bones and the uterus (Smith 2003), and a reduced cardiovascular mortality was seen among women who received two years of tamoxifen compared to five years tamoxifen therapy (Nordenskjold et al. 2005). Initially, most ERa positive patients will respond to tamoxifen (Osborne et al. 1980), but eventually the majority will develop resistance. The mechanism of resistance is not fully elucidated. Most tamoxifen resistant breast cancers are surprisingly still expressing ERa and the majority is capable of responding to alternative anti-estrogenic mechanisms exerted by fulvestrant and AIs (Buzdar et al. 2001, Howell et al. 1996).

ER β expression might influence the respond to tamoxifen and potentially predict outcome in tamoxifen-treated patients. However, conflicting results have been reported. Early and small studies have shown increased ER β expression in tamoxifen-resistant patients, whereas recent studies report the opposite, that is, high ER β expression is correlated with good prognosis for tamoxifen-treated patients but not for untreated patients

(Esslimani-Sahla et al. 2004, Hopp, Weiss, Parra et al. 2004, Mann et al. 2001). Paech *et al* have demonstrated that the ER β -tamoxifen complex can activate transcription via non-classical ER-signalling pathways through its binding to activator protein 1 transcription factors, thus indicating an agonist effect of tamoxifen in ER β high cancers (Paech et al. 1997). Murphy *et al*, conclude the contrary, that is, high expression of ER β is correlated to tamoxifen sensitivity (Murphy et al. 2002). A potential argument for the latter is that the agonist activity of tamoxifen has been located within the AF-1 domain of ER α (Berry et al. 1990) and the ER α -ER β heterodimer might diminish the agonist activity of ER α when bound to tamoxifen (Hopp, Weiss, Parra et al. 2004).

Aromatase inhibitors

The aromatase inhibitors (AIs) act by inhibiting the aromatase enzyme responsible for the conversion of peripheral circulating androgens into estrogens thereby lowering circulating estrogens to almost immeasureable levels (Geisler et al. 2005). AIs are only used in postmenopausal women with a cessation of the ovarian function. Consequently, circulating estrogens are produced in peripheral tissues by aromatization of androstendione. Results from two large studies, the ATAC-trial (Arimidex, Tamoxifen, Alone, or in Combination) and BIG 1-98 demonstrate a significant difference in diseasefree-survival (DFS) in favour of AIs (Howell et al. 2005, Thurlimann et al. 2005). In a meta-analysis by Jonat et al, the tamoxifen-AI-switch-model was superior compared to continuously tamoxifen in terms of DFS and overall survival (Jonat et al. 2006). Given the fundamental differences in their biological function, the side-effects of AIs differ from those of tamoxifen. Joint symptoms are frequent and might limit the number of patients able to continue treatment recommendations (Crew et al. 2007). Further, AIs are associated with bone mineral density loss and increased bone turnover, thereby explaining the increased fracture risk observed among AI-users in the ATAC trial (Eastell et al. 2006). However, the risk of tamoxifen associated side-effects such as endometrial cancer, stroke, or pulmonary embolism, is decreased for AI-users (Mouridsen 2006).

Antibody therapy

Trastuzumab (Herceptin®) is a humanised monoclonal antibody recently approved for treatment of women with HER2 positive, node-positive breast cancer. Trastuzumab therapy is preferably administered in combination with other drugs, i.e. taxanes, and prescribed every 3rd week during one year. Both in primary and metastatic disease, trastuzumab has proven its efficacy (Piccart-Gebhart 2006), and recent studies on neo-adjuvant trastuzumab therapy concomitant with chemotherapy, reveal promising results (Buzdar et al. 2005). Modest side effects make trastuzumab well tolerated with the exception of cardiotoxicity which might accompany the therapy (Piccart-Gebhart et al. 2005).

Lapatinib is a dual inhibitor of HER1 and HER2, and has shown activity in advanced breast cancer, both as a single drug or in combination with trastuzumab or chemotherapy (Bilancia et al. 2007). Another targeted therapy with a specific antibody is the antiangiogenic drug bevacizumab (Avastin®) which was recently approved in Europe for treatment of breast cancer patients with metastatic disease (Widakowich et al. 2007).

RISK FACTORS

Genetics

Breast cancer exhibits familial aggregation, and a history of breast cancer among first or second-degree relatives increases breast cancer risk. The Collaborative Group on Hormonal Factors in Breast Cancer demonstrated a lifetime excess incidence of breast cancer of 5.5% for women with one affected first-degree relative and 13.3% for women with two (2001). Relatives diagnosed at young age is another important risk marker, and recent studies indicate that survival patterns are heritable (Hartman et al. 2007, Hemminki et al. 2007). Most breast cancers are sporadic and occur without any identified breast cancer susceptibility. In contrast, around 5 % of all breast cancers are considered hereditary and develops in women with inherited breast cancer susceptibility genes, most notably BRCA1 and BRCA2 (Loman et al. 2003). Mutation carriers have a seriously increased breast cancer risk estimated to an average cumulative risk of 65 % for BRCA1mutation carriers and 45 % for BRCA2 (Antoniou et al. 2003). A number of breast cancer susceptibility genes have been identified, however, it is estimated that all currently known breast cancer susceptibility genes accounts for less than 25% of the familial aggregation of breast cancer. The number of identified breast cancer susceptibility genes probably represents a small fraction, and intensive research chases new candidates (Easton et al. 2007, Pharoah et al. 2007).

Diet

The etiological role of diet in breast cancer is still unclear, although migrant studies demonstrating altered breast cancer risk profiles could indicate a dietary influence (King et al. 1980). Given the complexity of dietary intake, the number of potential cancer risk-modifying agents is extensive. Furthermore, dietary assessment is complicated and several methods have been applied in different studies. Taken together, consistent associations between diet and breast cancer are difficult to prove, and might mirror a true absence of associations or may be caused by methodological difficulties (Michels, Mohllajee et al. 2007).

In vivo studies have shown inhibition of mammary tumorigenesis in energy restricted animals, independent of the amount of dietary fat (Kritchevsky 1997). The preventive role of energy restriction was supported in a human study, demonstrating a significantly reduced breast cancer incidence among women hospitalized for anorexia nervosa prior to the age of 40 years compared to the general population (Michels et al. 2004). Energy balance covers energy intake and expenditure, and the null findings might be an important parameter in breast cancer risk assessment (Silvera et al. 2006).

Fat intake has received considerable attention in breast cancer studies, although any consensus has not been reached. A meta-analysis of 12 case-control studies showed a higher breast cancer risk in the top quintile of total fat intake (Howe et al. 1990), as opposed to other case-control studies reporting negative results (Lipworth 1995). In general, prospective cohort studies have not shown any associations between total fat intake and breast cancer risk (Hunter et al. 1996). The hypothesis that a low-fat diet would reduce breast cancer risk was studied in a recent randomized controlled trial, and revealed a non-significant risk reduction in the intervention group (Prentice et al. 2006).

Several nutritional researchers have questioned the traditional fat debate (Taubes 2001, Willett 1994) and stated that "mainstream nutritional science has demonized dietary fat"

(Taubes 2001). Rose *et al* have proposed that the challenge is rather to balance the proportion of different fatty acids than avoiding fat (Rose 1997).

Diets are composed of several types of dietary fats, including saturated fatty acids (SFA, dairy products and meat), monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA, i.e. olive oil), and polyunsaturated fatty acids (n-6 PUFA, vegetable oils, and n-3 PUFAs, fish).

Animal studies have shown that the tumour promoting effect of fat depends on the type and amount of fat, and not simply the caloric content (Wynder et al. 1997). Most likely, the ratio between two PUFAs, n-6 and n-3, is important for the tumour promoting effects of fat observed in animal studies. Further, diets rich in the eicosapentanoic acid (longchained PUFA), present in fish oil, lack tumour promoting effects. In parallel, the low breast cancer rates in Eskimo and Japanese populations might be explained by the high content of eicopentanoic acid (Kaizer et al. 1989). Similar findings for oleic acid, present in olive oil, have been reported based on epidemiological studies on the relatively low breast cancer rates in Southern Europe where olive oil is a major contributor to the total amount of fat (Trichopoulou et al. 1993).

The association between fatty acids and breast cancer was addressed in a study from the Malmö Diet and Cancer cohort, where the authors found that a high intake of n-6 PUFAs was associated with an increased risk of breast cancer (Wirfalt et al. 2002). In another Swedish cohort study, a high PUFA intake was associated with an increased breast cancer risk, whereas MUFA intake and breast cancer risk were inversely associated (Wolk et al. 1998). SFA intake was not associated with breast cancer in neither of the Swedish studies.

In general, diet consists of three different macronutrients; fat, carbohydrates, and protein. The intake of carbohydrates has generally not been associated with an increased breast cancer risk (Holmes et al. 2004, Jonas et al. 2003, Nielsen et al. 2005). The number of studies on protein intake and breast cancer risk is limited.

Anthropometrics

Anthropometric measurements cover a variety of parameters; height, weight, BMI, waist – and hip circumference, waist-hip ratio, and body fat percentage are all frequently applied parameters. In analyses of anthropometrics and breast cancer, it is generally agreed that stratification for menopausal status should be performed. Body size and postmenopausal breast cancer are positively associated whereas an inverse association is seen for premenopausal breast cancer (Harvie et al. 2003). In the following text "breast cancer" refers to postmenopausal breast cancer.

Height

Attained height is regarded as a non-modifiable anthropometric factor. A positive association between height and breast cancer risk has been reported in several cohort studies (van den Brandt et al. 2000). The possible mechanisms behind this are unclear. A low stature might reflect insufficient energy intake during childhood and as energy restriction has been shown to reduce breast cancer risk (Kritchevsky 1997, Michels et al. 2004), this might partly explain the association. However, in relatively affluent populations, height is still considered a risk factor for breast cancer (Swanson et al. 1989, Trentham-Dietz et al. 1997). More likely, genetic and environmental factors interact in a still unsolved manner.

Weight, BMI, waist, hip, and body fat percentage

Body size is an important modifiable risk factor for breast cancer (Friedenreich 2001, Reeves et al. 2007). However, estimation of body size is not that simple and the choice of parameters often depends on the purpose and practical possibilities. Weight, BMI, waist- and hip circumference are rather inexpensive measurements and often applied in larger studies. BMI is used as an indicator of "general" body size, whereas waist- and hip circumference give information on the distribution of body fat. Assessment of body fat percentage generates an average estimate of body fat, but is a rather expensive and time-consuming method. Several anthropometric measurements have been used in breast cancer studies and it remains undecided which one of them is the most reliable predictor of breast cancer risk.

Harvie *et al* conducted a review on central obesity using waist circumference and waisthip-ratio as indicators and found a positive association with breast cancer risk. Adjustment for BMI abolished the association and the authors conclude that central obesity is not a superior breast cancer predictor compared to general obesity (BMI) (Harvie et al. 2003). The increased breast cancer risk with a higher BMI is most likely due to increased concentrations of circulating sex hormones, and strong empirical evidence exists to support this underlying mechanism (Key et al. 2003). Adult weight gain has received increasing attention and is proposed as an equivalent, or even superior, risk indicator compared to BMI (Feigelson et al. 2004, Han et al. 2006). Han *et al* found a 4% increase in breast cancer risk for every 5 kg gained weight, however, weight gain in different periods of life might exert distinct impact on breast cancer risk and should be investigated further (Han et al. 2006).

Physical activity

Physical activity is considered a modifiable risk factor for breast cancer, and several studies have reported an inverse association (Bernstein et al. 2005, Lahmann et al. 2007, Moradi et al. 2002, Sprague et al. 2007). Some studies suggest that physical activity primarily affects postmenopausal breast cancer risk (Monninkhof et al. 2007). Both recreational, household, and occupational activities are proposed as contributors to the protective effects (Sprague et al. 2007). The biological mechanisms behind are not fully understood, however, physical activity-mediated effects such as low estrogen bioavailability, prevention of weight gain, regulated insulin sensitivity, and altered immunological functions, are plausible explanations (Hoffman-Goetz et al. 1998, Sprague et al. 2007).

Alcohol

Alcohol consumption and breast cancer risk have consistently been positively associated (Hamajima et al. 2002, Singletary et al. 2001, Zhang et al. 2007). Increased estrogen levels following a regular alcohol use is a possible mechanism, although many other factors enhance alcohol-mediated effects on breast cancer risk, i.e. low folate intake (Singletary et al. 2001, Suzuki et al. 2005). The type of alcohol beverage has not been shown to affect breast cancer risk (Tjonneland et al. 2003). The average daily alcohol intake rather than drinking frequency seems to affect breast cancer risk (Tjonneland et al. 2003), and even a moderate alcohol intake of one drink per day has been associated with increased breast cancer risk (Longnecker et al. 1995). A study on alcoholic women with a severe intake did not reveal the presumed increase in breast cancer risk (Kuper et al. 2000).

Smoking

The association between cigarette smoking and breast cancer is still controversial. A large collaborative re-analysis found no association between smoking and breast cancer (Hamajima et al. 2002). However, the association might be blurred by excluding tumourbiological factors in the risk-assessment (Russo 2002). Some studies have advocated a protective role of cigarette smoking due to potential anti-estrogenic effects (Baron et al. 1990), and dual effects of smoking has been reported and highlighted the need of separate analysis of pre- and postmenopausal women (Band et al. 2002). Cessation of cigarette smoking might be a risk indicator as higher breast cancer incidence has been reported among ex-smokers compared to current and never smokers (Manjer et al. 2000). Furthermore, ex-smokers have an increased risk of grade III and PgR negative tumours compared to never-smokers (Manjer, Malina et al. 2001).

Socioeconomic status

Women of a high socioeconomic status have an increased risk of breast cancer (Baquet et al. 2000, Faggiano et al. 1997). The different incidence between deprived and affluent women might be caused by factors like late maternal age at first childbirth, nulliparity, and use of exogenous hormones among affluent women (Brown et al. 2007). Higher attendance rates in screening programmes among affluent women, probably contribute to the different incidence rates across socioeconomic groups (Brown et al. 2007). The socioeconomic status is an important prognostic parameter in breast cancer, and most studies agree on an association between a poor socioeconomic status and poor prognosis (Baquet et al. 2000, Bouchardy et al. 2006). Especially young women of poor socioeconomic status are at high risk of dying from their breast cancer with a three-fold higher risk compared to women of high socioeconomic status (Bouchardy et al. 2006).

Endogenous hormones

An endogenous hormone is defined as a substance produced in one organ and transported to another with the purpose of exerting its metabolic effect. Steroid hormones are lipophilic molecules derived from cholesterol. When bound to albumin or serum hormone binding globulin (SHBG), they are in an inactivated state. However, the unbound and active forms diffuse through cell membranes and bind to receptors in the nucleus, mitochondria or cytoplasm. The ovarian hormones, i.e. estrogen and progesterone, are crucial in breast cancer development (Key et al. 2002) and described further below.

Estrogen

In premenopausal women, the predominant estrogen source is the ovaries. In the ovaries, cholesterol is converted to androstendione and either directly, or via testosterone, to estrone and estradiol, respectively (Clemons et al. 2001). The conversion into estrogens is regulated by aromatase enzymes which are stimulated by FSH. The lower estrogen levels in postmenopausal women are due to cessation of ovarian production of estrogens. However, compensatory estrogen production is initiated via aromatization of androgens predominantly from the adrenal glands. Liver, muscle, and

fat tissue are the predominant places for this conversion, and explain the higher levels of circulating estrogens in obese women (Key et al. 2003).

In a "paracrine" manner, local estrogen production in the breast may occur. Recent studies propose that local formation of estrogens in breast tumours may be more important than circulating estrogen in plasma for the growth and survival of estrogen-dependent breast cancer in postmenopausal women. The biosynthesis of estrogens in breast tumour tissues can follow two major and different routes, one being the aromatase pathway and another one the steroid-sulfatase (STS) pathway. There is accumulating evidence for higher estrogen concentration in breast tissue among women with breast cancer compared to those without (Chetrite et al. 2000, Nakata et al. 2003). Estrogens diffuse passively through the cell- and nuclear membranes in target cells. In complex with estrogen receptors, estrogen binds to estrogen responsive elements (EREs), whereby cell growth and differentiation is regulated.

Estrogen levels are known to affect breast density (Greendale et al. 2005), supported by the notion that hormonal replacement therapy increases breast density (Greendale et al. 2003) and tamoxifen treatment causes reduced breast density (Ursin et al. 1996).

Estrogens are essential for many normal functions in the human body (Weihua et al. 2003), i.e. breast development, bone mineral density (Clemons et al. 2001), and arterial calcification processes (Saltiki et al. 2007). Life-time exposure to endogenous estrogenes varies among women and is determined by reproductive factors as age of menarche, age at first full-term pregnancy, parity, and age at menopause. Other determinants of estrogen resources are obesity, amount of exercise, and certain dietary nutrients, i.e. phytoestrogens (Clemons et al. 2001).

Estrogens are predominantly metabolized in the liver. The estrogen catabolism reveals both intra- and interpersonal variation due to gene polymorphism among catabolic enzymes (Clemons et al. 2001). Hence, further variation in the cumulative exposure to estrogen is added.

Indeed, estrogen and breast cancer are associated. Estrogens are involved in both initiation and promotion of breast cancer. The mechanisms behind are complex. Estrogen has potential genotoxic effects, and DNA-damage might occur through activation of oncogenes or other proteins that are involved in the nucleic acid synthesis. Tumour promotion is mainly facilitated by proliferative effects exerted by estrogens in complex with estrogen receptors (Russo et al. 2006).

Progesterone

Progesterone is the only endogenous progestin. The corpus luteum in the ovaries is the primary site for synthesis, and a minor amount is derived from the adrenal glands. Progesterone is a precursor of androstendione which may be converted into testosterone, and further to estrone and estradiol. The role of progesterone in breast cancer is not fully elucidated. Most epidemiological studies report no association between progesterone and breast cancer risk (Eliassen et al. 2006, Missmer et al. 2004), however, breast cell proliferation is increased in the luteal phase when progesterone levels are high (Navarrete et al. 2005). The full development of the mammary gland is not achieved until pregnancy and progesterone is proposed to play an important role in the morphological and functional changes of the breast induced during pregnancy (Soyal et al. 2002).

Exogenous hormones

Oral contraceptives

The use of oral contraceptives (OCs) is estimated to cause a slightly increased risk of breast cancer, although levelled out ten years after cessation (1996, Veronesi et al. 2005). The influence on breast cancer risk exerted by OCs depends on several different parameters. Age of OC initiation, time of initiation in relation to menarche and first child birth, duration of OC use, and type of OC (Althuis et al. 2003) are relevant parameters to take into account when estimating breast cancer risk subsequently to OC use (Ansink et al. 2007). A recent Swedish study found no increased breast cancer risk among current and ever users, while women with a history of OC use prior to the age of 20, had a markedly higher risk of early-onset breast cancer (Jernstrom et al. 2005).

Hormonal replacement therapy (HRT)

Along with menopause and hormone deprivation, menopausal symptoms arrive. The most frequent symptoms include flushes, depression, heart palpitations, fractures, variations in menstruation cycle, sweat symptoms, etc. Hormone replacement therapy (HRT), prescribed as single estrogen-therapy (ERT), was introduced in the 1960s with great expectations, yet an increased risk of endometrial cancer emerged as a severe adverse effect. The addition of progestin eliminated the increased risk (Persson 89, Voigt 91) and further on combined hormonal replacement therapy (CHRT) was recommended (Odlind 2004). In CHRT, progestins are added either sequentially or continuously.

During the 1980s the use of HRT increased rapidly. In the Million Women Study (UK) recruiting participants between 1996 and 2001, half the women were current or former users of HRT (Beral 2003). However, novel consequences of the popular therapy arose. In the 1990s several meta-analyses pointed out an increased risk of breast cancer among HRT-users (1997). The Women's Health Initiative Study, a randomized controlled primary prevention trial, was stopped after a mean of 5.2 years of follow-up due to an increased risk of breast cancer in the CHRT group compared to the placebo group. Further, the risk-benefit analysis concluded that initiation and continued CHRT was not appropriate for primary prevention of coronary heart disease (Rossouw et al. 2002).

The first results from the Million Women Study were published in 2003 and showed a marked increase of breast cancer among women receiving CHRT, but not ERT. Neither the type of estrogen/progestin, nor the administration (sequential/continuous) and dose, influenced the risk of breast cancer. Further, the increased breast cancer risk seemed to vanish five years after HRT cessation (Beral 2003). The difference in breast cancer risk between ERT and CHRT has been described in several other studies (Colditz 2005, Collins et al. 2005, Greiser et al. 2005). Breast cell proliferation increases along with high endogenous progesterone levels in the luteal phase, and in a similar fashion after initiation of CHRT (Conner et al. 2003, Hofseth et al. 1999). Notably, proliferation was localized to the terminal duct-lobular unit of the breast, the site for development in most breast cancers (Hofseth et al. 1999).

Women using HRT show increased breast density on mammography (McTiernan et al. 2005) and women on continuously administrated CHRT have the most affected mammograms (Colacurci et al. 2001). A recent study reports that extensive mammographic density is associated with an increased risk of breast cancer detected by screening or during screening intervals and dense mammograms are therefore regarded as a risk factor *per se* (Boyd et al. 2007). However, dense breast tissue is more difficult to examine on mammography, and others propose that the decreased sensitivity of mammograms might influence the increased risk of interval cancer (Hofvind et al. 2006).

Thus, alternative diagnostic methods for women on HRT might be appropriate. Particularly when considering the fact that HRT-users are at high risk of lobular cancers which are often multifocal and easier detected on MRI (Biglia et al. 2007).

Anthropometric factors have been related to breast cancer risk among HRT users; lean women appear to be at higher risk compared to obese women (Lahmann et al. 2004). Lean women do have lower levels of unbound serum estradiol compared to obese women (Bezemer et al. 2005, Rinaldi et al. 2006) and the use of HRT may stimulate cell proliferation relatively more in hormone-deprived lean women than in obese women.

The biological association between CHRT use and breast cancer is not clear. Most studies agree on a tumour promoting effects of hormones (Anderson et al. 1989), whereas hormonally induced tumour initiation appears more controversial (Dietel et al. 2005).

Reproductive factors

The breast undergoes continuous changes during the reproductive phase in a woman's life. The reproductive history includes several factors such as age at menarche, age at first full-term pregnancy, parity, breast feeding, and age at menopause. A relatively high cumulative estrogen exposure obtained through early menarche, late menopause, and nulliparity increases the risk of breast cancer (Veronesi et al. 2005). Oppositely, high parity, young age at first full-term pregnancy, and breast feeding have been associated with a protective effect on breast cancer risk (Clavel-Chapelon 2002, Veronesi et al. 2005). Giving birth has shown dual effects on breast cancer risk with a temporary increased breast cancer risk subsequent to birth in the first five to ten years (Lambe et al. 1994, Liu et al. 2002). Neither spontaneous nor induced abortions seem to influence breast cancer risk (Clavel-Chapelon 2002, Michels, Xue et al. 2007, Paoletti et al. 2003).

AIMS OF THE THESIS

The general aim of this thesis was to study the association between life style factors and breast cancer risk by sub-grouping breast cancer according to molecular pathology parameters with the anticipation of contributing to novel prevention strategies.

The specific aims of each paper are listed below:

 \bullet Explore the association between sub-groups of breast cancer and several dietary and anthropometric factors (Paper I)

• Evaluate the association between hormonal replacement therapy and the risk of specific breast cancer sub-groups (Paper II)

• Analyse the association between different anthropometric measurements and the risk of breast cancer defined by histological and tumour biological characteristics (Paper III)

• Study the intracellular distribution and various expression of HMG-CoA reductase in breast cancer and analyse its relationship with estrogen-related factors (Paper IV)

• Investigate the relationship between ER β expression and established pathological parameters in breast cancer, and study the predictive potential of ER β expression among tamoxifen treated patients (Paper V)

SUBJECTS AND METHODS

Study cohorts

The Malmö Diet and Cancer Study (Paper I-IV)

The Malmö Diet and Cancer Study (MDCS) is a prospective cohort study. Participants were recruited from a source population defined as all persons living in Malmö and born between 1926 and 1945. In 1994, the source population was extended to include women born between 1923 and 1950, and men born between 1923 and 1945. The only exclusion criteria was mental incapacity or inadequate language skills in Swedish (Berglund et al. 1993). Recruitment was performed by public advertisement (posters and pamphlets) and personal invitations (letters and telephone calls) (Manjer et al. 2002). Participation was voluntary and without any financial compensation. Baseline examinations were initiated in March 1991 and conducted until September 1996. Participants visited the MDC screening centre twice. At the first visit, they received instructions on how to register meals in the menu-book and how to fill in questionnaires concerning demographic, socioeconomic, and various life style factors, including dietary habits. Furthermore, anthropometric measures and blood samples were taken. The purpose of the second visit was to ensure completion of the questionnaires and it also included a dietary interview. At the end of baseline examinations, 28 098 participants had completed all study parts, of whom 17 035 were women (Manjer, Carlsson et al. 2001).

Breast cancer cases were ascertained by record linkage with the Swedish Cancer Registry and the Southern Swedish Regional Tumour Registry. Vital status was retrieved from the Swedish Cause of Death Registry.

In Paper I, end of follow-up was 31 Dec 2001. Following baseline examinations, a total of 440 women were diagnosed with incident breast cancer. Fifty cases were diagnosed as in situ breast cancer, and in 44 cases adequate tumour samples were not available at the Department of Pathology, either due to that surgery had been performed at another hospital or that the amount of tumour material left for histopathological evaluation was insufficient. The remaining cohort of 346 women with invasive breast cancer forms the study population in Paper I.

In Paper II, the peri-and postmenopausal cohort was extracted and included 12 583 women among which 512 had been diagnosed with breast cancer previously and classified as prevalent breast cancer. By the end of follow-up (31 Dec 2001), 332 women had been diagnosed with incident breast cancer. In situ carcinoma accounted for 30 cases, in 36 cases there was no available or inadequate amount of tumour tissue, and the remaining 266 women diagnosed with invasive breast cancer form the cohort of cases in this paper. The cohort of 11 739 peri-and postmenopausal women without prevalent or incident breast cancer, represents the healthy control subjects.

In Paper III, the follow-up period was extended to 31 Dec 2004 and by then; a total of 622 women within the MDCS had been diagnosed with incident breast cancer. However, this study on anthropometric factors was restricted to analyses of peri- and postmenopausal women (n=12 583) with no prevalent breast cancer or HRT use at baseline which reveals a study population of 9685 women. In the study population, 305 women were diagnosed with incident breast cancer and in 248 cases invasive and sufficient tumour material was provided. The remaining breast cancer population consisted of 31 in situ carcinomas and 26 cases with unavailable tumour samples.

In Paper IV, end of follow-up was the same as in Paper III revealing 622 incident breast cancers. Within the MDCS, three different study populations were defined. For the

correlation analyses, the cohort of all invasive breast cancer cases with available tumour material, was applied and counted 511 cases. The remaining cases included 72 in situ carcinomas and 39 cases with unavailable tumour material. The analyses of HRT use included the peri- and postmenopausal cohort with no prevalent breast cancer (n=12 071) and included 464 incident breast cancer cases. Invasive breast cancer accounted for 382, another 45 were carcinoma in situ, and in 37 cases tumour material was not available. For analyses of anthropometric factors, the study cohort of Paper III was used.



Figure 5 Flow-chart of the Malmö Diet and Cancer cohort
The Consecutive Breast Cancer Cohort (Paper V)

The Consecutive Breast Cancer Cohort (CBCC) is a consecutive series of unselected breast cancer patients diagnosed with invasive breast cancer at the Department of Pathology, Malmö University Hospital, between 1988 and 1992. Breast cancer samples were collected, and data on treatment and disease outcome were retrieved from medical records. The CBCC includes 512 women with invasive breast cancer and adequate data on treatment and disease outcome was retrieved in 389 cases. Data on the remaining proportion was either insufficiently described in medical records or lost due to follow-up outside the Malmö University Hospital.

Pathological re-evaluation

Invasive breast tumours from MDCS and CBCC were collected and re-evaluated by a senior breast pathologist according to tumour type (WHO) (1982), NHG (Elston et al. 1991), tumour size, and lymph node involvement. Furthermore, areas with invasive breast cancer were marked for the construction of the tissue microarray (TMA).

Tissue microarray

The tissue microarray (TMA) technology was developed in the late 1990s (Kononen et al. 1998) and is now a commonly used method for high-throughput analyses of protein expression in tumour samples. The construction of the TMAs can be done either manually or using an automated arrayer. In paper I-II and V the manual arrayer (MTA-1) was used, and in paper III-IV an automated arrayer was used as well (ATA-27), both devices were provided by Beecher Inc., Sun Prairie, Wisconsin, USA. Generally, two tissue cores were retrieved from each donating paraffin block and arranged in a recipient block. Each recipient block contained approximately 200 cores corresponding to 100 patients. In order to consume a minimum of tumour tissue, small tissue cores are desired, and cores of 0.6 mm were preferred.





Immunohistochemistry

For immunohistochemical (IHC) analyses, sections of four µm were cut from the recipient block, and dried, deparaffinised, rehydrated and microwave treated in a citrate buffer (pH6.0) for antigen retrieval. All automated IHC processing was performed using the DAKO Techmate 500 system (DAKO, Copenhagen, DK), except for ERa and PgR, where the Ventana Benchmark system was used (Ventana medical Systems Inc., AZ, USA).

The scoring system of the immunostained slides is described in details in the relevant article. Verification of the two relatively new antibodies against ER β and HMG-CoAR was performed in cell lines by comparison of Western Blot analyses and IHC staining on TMAs from cell pellets of the corresponding cells. Further description of the antibody verification is provided in paper IV-V.

Table 2 Summary of the antibodies used.

Marker	Manufacturer	Clone	Dilution	Processing system	Daper
Marker	Manufacturer	CIONE	Dilution	Processing system	гареі
ERa	Ventana	6F11	Prediluted	Ventana Benchmark	I-V
ERβ	Novocastra	EMR02	1/25	Dako Techmate 500	II-V
PgR	Ventana	16	Prediluted	Ventana Benchmark	II-V
Cyclin D1	Dako	DSC-6	1/100	Dako Techmate 500	I-III
Cyclin E	S:ta Cruz	HE12	1/100	Dako Techmate 500	I-II
P27	Dako	SX53G8	1/200	Dako Techmate 500	I-IV
Ki67	Dako	M7240	1/200	Dako Techmate 500	I-V
HER2	Zymed	Z4881	1/100	Dako Techmate 500	II-IV
HMG-CoAR	Upstate	07-457	1/250	Dako Techmate 500	IV

Fluorescence *in situ* hybridization

Fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (FISH) was used for detection of HER2 amplification in paper II. In brief, DNA in the formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded tissue specimens was denaturated and allowed to hybridise with two fluorescent signals. Evaluation of HER2 gene copy number (hybridization) was evaluated using a fluorescence microscope. In each tumour core at least 30 cells were evaluated, and the HER2 gene was considered amplified in tumour cells with a fluorescence signal number greater than 5.

Statistical methods

All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 11.0, 12.0, and 13.0 (SPSS Institute, Chicago; IL, USA). All statistical tests were two-sided and p-values less than 0.05 were considered significant.

In Paper I, continuous variables (age, dietary and anthropometric variables) were Intransformed prior to analysis in order to normalize data distribution and reduce skewness. Prior to the transformation, a small number (0.01) was added to continuous variables in order to handle zero intakes. Age-adjusted analysis of variance (ANOVA) was applied for comparison of means. Analyses of dietary intake were further adjusted for diet assistant, seasonal period of dietary data collection, method version, and recent changes in dietary habits. All analyses of dietary intake were repeated in energy-adjusted models. Stratification for menopausal status was performed for analyses of anthropometric factors, and separate analyses for pre- and post menopausal women were repeated.

In Paper II-IV, breast cancer incidence in different exposure groups was calculated per 100 000 person-years. Cox's proportional hazards analysis was used for estimation of relative risks in different exposure groups. The multivariate analyses included potential confounders which are described in details in each paper. Using an unconditional logistic regression model in the case-to-case-analysis, the heterogeneity between relative risks

was examined in paper II and IV. In Paper IV, correlation analyses were performed using the Chi-square test.

In paper V, the Chi-square test was used for analyses of correlation between categorical variables, Spearman's test was applied for linear variables, and the Mann Whitneys U-test was applied for comparison of medians. The end point in survival analyses was disease-free survival (DFS), equivalent with recurrence-free survival. A univariate Cox's proportional hazard analysis was used for calculation of disease-free survival in different sub-groups. Survival curves were generated using the Kaplan-Meier method and statistical significance determined by the log-rank test. Survival analyses were repeated for breast cancer specific survival (BCSS) and overall survival (OS).

METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

Tumour classification and tissue microarray

Analyses of different breast cancer subgroups may be influenced by misclassification of breast tumours, and, in order to minimize the risk of misclassification bias, all tumours were re-evaluated on whole section slides by one pathologist, thus the problem of interobserver variability was consequently reduced. The pathologist was blinded to all data on life style parameters and tumour assessments made as objective as possible and information on pathology data is considered valid.

Advances in proteomics have increased the need to evaluate large numbers of molecular targets for their diagnostic, predictive or prognostic value in breast cancer. The conventional molecular pathology techniques are often time-consuming, and require larger amounts of tissue, thereby limiting the number of tissues that can be evaluated. Thus, the introduction of tissue microarray (TMA) was an appealing alternative method consuming both less tissue and less time. Today, TMA is a well-established and frequently used method for high-throughput analyses. However, some aspects are still debated, i.e. the size of the core and the number of cores.

The preferred sizes of the core biopsies differ among studies and vary from 0.6 mm and up to 2.0 mm. In order to consume a minimum of tissue and still maintain a reasonable amount of tissue for evaluation, we preferred a size of 0.6 mm. Compared to analyses of whole sections, a TMA core of 0.6 mm has been shown to provide equal and adequate results from immunohistochemical (IHC) analyses on tumour markers (Abd El-Rehim et al. 2005, Camp et al. 2000, Zhang et al. 2003). One could question whether archival tissues are suitable for renewed IHC evaluation many years after surgery. However, in a TMA study, Camp et al. 2000).

Few studies have proposed a single core to be sufficient (Zhang et al. 2003), whereas most others favour two cores, bearing in mind that a minor fraction of cores is commonly lost during IHC processing (Abd El-Rehim et al. 2005, Camp et al. 2000). In this study, we used two cores per patient and in cases with only one interpretable core left; IHC scoring was based on the remaining core.

In our studies, marker expression did not differ between the majority of duplicate cores and in the rare cases with a heterogeneous expression; evaluation was based on the core with highest expression. In paper I-IV all tumour cores were individually scored twice by the same investigator and in case of discrepancy a third re-evaluation was performed by the same investigator and followed by a final decision. TMA scoring was performed by the same investigator in all studies from the Malmö Diet and Cancer cohort and thereby the inter-observer variation was reduced. In paper V, the evaluation of ER β expression was performed by one investigator in similarity with paper I-IV, whereas another investigator evaluated ERa, PgR, Ki67, and HER2, which might cause inter-observer variation. However, as each tumour marker was evaluated by the same investigator, we considered the problem with inter-observer variation to be of less importance.

Antibody validation

The number of available antibodies *per* antigen is plentiful and the choice of a favoured antibody should be a critical decision and preferably followed by internal validation. Especially, novel antibodies need further validation (Pozner-Moulis et al. 2007).

In our studies, we have used two less established, yet commercial, antibodies against HMG-CoAR and ER β , which are further discussed below.

For validation of the HMG-CoAR antibody, four different human tissue lysates (normal breast tissue, breast tumour tissue, normal prostate tissue, prostate tumour tissue) and two cell lysates (skin, epidermoid carcinoma and liver, hepatocellular carcinoma) were analyzed. The Western Blot (WB) analysis showed a single band corresponding to a molecular weight of 90 kDa most likely representing HMG-CoAR. Neither the intra-tumoural, nor the sub-cellular distribution of HMG-CoAR in breast cancer has been described previously, thus staining on whole slides was performed for further characterisation. We found that HMG-CoAR on TMAs was less likely to show various expressions in between cores belonging to the same patient.

Prior to IHC analyses on the TMAs, the ER β antibody was validated on WB and by IHC using five different breast cancer cell lines. The WB analyses revealed a single band at the molecular weight corresponding to full length ER β , and, furthermore, we used an antibody not able to detect ER β cx. There was a good correspondence between results from WB analyses and IHC; the cell line displaying the strongest band on WB also revealed the strongest staining intensity. Further validation with an ER β negative cell line was not feasible despite several attempts to retrieve such a cell line. We did, however, have a rather high fraction of ER β negative tumours compared to other studies (Fuqua et al. 2003, Gruvberger-Saal et al. 2007) indicating specific antibody recognition. Taken together, we regard the ER β antibody used as valid and specific for ER β (Fuqua et al. 1999, Pavao et al. 2001).

Internal validity

Detection bias

Mammography attendance is necessarily associated with the detection of a breast cancer. The question to be asked is how, or if, different exposures are related to the attendance rates and whether these exposures affect radiological imaging, which could bias the results.

Several reports indicate that women with poor socio-economic circumstances are less prone to attend mammography screening programmes (Lagerlund et al. 2002, Zackrisson et al. 2004). Further, the mammography attendance rate may be associated with BMI as obese women (BMI 35-40 kg/m²) seem to be less likely to attend mammography compared to women with a normal BMI (Wee et al. 2004). Mammography specificity may be influenced by obesity, and a 20% increased risk of false-positive results among obese women has been reported (Elmore et al. 2004). Moreover, tumour palpability is most likely influenced by body constitution with obese women tending to have non-palpable tumours (Chagpar et al. 2007). To our knowledge, no reports on a potential association between dietary habits and mammography attendance have been found. HRT-users do attend mammography screening programmes more frequently compared to non-users (Banks et al. 2002, Kavanagh et al. 2000) leading to differences in detecting early breast cancers depending on HRT-use. Meanwhile, HRT-use influence mammography imaging with denser breast tissue among HRT-users and consequently, an increased rate of false negative as well as false positive mammography results (Kavanagh et al. 2000, Patella et al. 2005).

Taken together, mammography attendance and radiological imaging may be related to several factors that are known breast cancer risk factors. In paper II, we addressed this problem and hypothesised that HRT-users would attend mammography more frequent and probably be diagnosed with smaller tumours. However, we found that tumours among HRT-users were larger and the risk of detection bias probably limited. Similar findings were obtained in paper III with larger tumours in obese women and obesity being a risk factor ought not to have caused a detection bias.

Misclassification

Over- and underreporting is central in nutritional epidemiology based on self-reported dietary data and might cause misclassification. Different motives for misreporting have been recognized; social desirability (reporting dietary habits reflecting social norms), attention (influenced reporting due to observation of the subject), and unacceptability (misreporting of sensitive information). Subsequently, it is essential whether misreporting occurs more frequently in certain groups resulting in systematic errors. Most likely, personality traits influence misreporting (Novotny et al. 2003, Tooze et al. 2004), however, this would probably not cause differential misclassification related to exposure- or disease status. Under-reporting of energy intake is common, and probably more frequent among subjects with a high BMI (Novotny et al. 2003, Prentice 1996). In paper I, analyses on dietary variables were not adjusted for BMI; however, we adjusted for the variable "recent food habit changes". This variable was recently analysed in a study from the MDCS, demonstrating that "recent food habit changers" reported lower energy intake compared with "non-changers" (Sonestedt et al. 2007), which parallels a low energy intake reported by obese subjects. Another source of misclassification of reported dietary habits could be instrumental weaknesses in the applied method. However, the validity of dietary assessment in MDCS has been examined in a previous study, which indicated a high validity (Callmer et al. 1993).

Misclassification of self-reported data on HRT-use is less likely as misreporting is rare (Banks et al. 2001). Further, in the MDCS, HRT-use was assed in two ways, using both a diary and a questionnaire, thereby minimising the risk of misclassification (Merlo et al. 2000). In this study, we had access to data on current and non-users and consequently, recall bias on HRT was considered less important. A minor fraction of former users might be concealed within the group of non-users, and the database did not reveal possibilities of extracting such information. Yet, a classification of former users as non-users would lead to an underestimation of the HRT associated risks.

Confounding

A true confounder is associated with both exposure- and outcome variables without being caused by either of them. In paper I analyses were adjusted for age and dietary related factors (dietary interviewer, season, method version, recent changes of dietary habits, and energy); however, other potential confounders such as established factors for breast cancer were not included, which could have influenced the results. The choice of not including breast cancer risk factors in paper I was decided on as it was a descriptive study in an unexplored field combining life style data with tumour biological markers, whereas factors related to the assessment of diet were included in order to obtain the best possible descriptive information on diet in different sub-groups. In paper II-IV, potential confounders associated with breast cancer risk were included in multivariate analyses, which merely changed the results slightly compared to crude analyses. A family history of breast cancer was not included as co-variate, which might be a limitation in our study. Data on family history of breast cancer were not available in the database and we were consequently unable to adjust for it. However, we consider it reasonable to perform analyses without adjusting for family history of breast cancer as non-sporadic breast

cancer cases constitute a minor proportion of all breast cancer (Loman et al. 2003) and is less likely to influence the results. Another co-variate which might have been appropriate to include in this study, is physical activity. However, in the MDCS, the validity of physical activity has been questioned (Mattisson et al. 2005), hence we decided not to include physical activity. In paper V, all survival analyses were adjusted for age. One may question the lack of further co-variates such as other tumour characteristics. However, due to the strong interaction among tumour characteristics which might have lead to over-adjustment; we decided to restrict adjustment to age. Furthermore, the main scope of paper V was to study the expression of ER β and we found an even distribution of ER β negative and positive tumours in different sub-groups of important prognostic parameters, such as size, grade, and lymph node status.

Statistical considerations

In some of the papers a relatively large number of comparisons have been performed, which may be questioned. A type 1 error, or a-error, occurs when the null hypothesis is rejected when it is actually true, meaning that a difference is observed although there is none. Type 1 errors are often referred to as false positive. A 95% confidence interval implies a 5% risk of observing false positive results due to coincidence of findings. An important concern in our studies is mass significance and some might recommend modifying results using Bonferroni's correction. However, most modern statisticians regard Bonferroni as rather conservative (Perneger 1998) and increasing the risk of type 2 errors. Type 2 error, or β -error, implies failing to reject the null hypothesis when it is not true, leading to false negative results. Hence, we decided not to make Bonferroni's correction, although interpretation should be done with caution. Another statistical issue to be addressed is the rather small sub-groups emerging in the studies and subsequently limited statistical power. Risk estimates in small groups often result in wide confidence intervals and consequently poor precision. Consequently, such risk estimates will also need careful interpretation.

External validity

The background population in Malmö might be a selected cohort compared to the average Swedish population as the breast cancer incidence in Skåne (146.4/100 000) exceeds the general breast cancer incidence in Sweden (141.3/100 000) (The National Board of Health and Welfare, 2005). Furthermore, studies from the MDCS have shown that participants probably exhibit a selected part of the background population, displaying a higher breast cancer incidence compared to the source population. Additionally, the study found that a higher proportion of the participants reported "good health" compared to the mailed health survey. (Manjer, Carlsson et al. 2001). We do, however, regard it as possible to make internal comparisons within the study. Moreover, comparing with the existing literature, our results on associations between life style factors and breast cancer risk are generally in agreement with others, and we believe it is reasonable to apply the relative risks obtained in our studies to the general population.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Paper I

In this study, we explored various breast cancer subgroups in relation to body constitution and dietary factors in a subset of 346 invasive breast cancers from the MDCS.

Pathological re-evaluation according to tumour type and grade revealed an almost similar distribution of different histological types, but slightly fewer grade III tumours compared to an unselected set of patients (CBCC, paper V). Using the TMA method, we assessed the expression of ERa, cyclin D1, cyclin E, p27, and Ki67, and internal associations between all evaluated tumour characteristics, demonstrated expected associations thus making it reasonable to perform further internal comparisons to potential risk factors, i.e. dietary- and anthropometric factors.

Five different anthropometric measures were analysed for their association with the above mentioned tumour characteristics by comparison of mean values. The results indicated an association between tall stature and grade I tumours. BMI and hip circumference were positively associated with tumour grade, although displaying a discontinuous trend over mean values with the lowest mean among women with grade I tumours and the highest mean for women with grade II tumours. However, given the heterogeneity within the grade II carcinomas, no firm conclusion can be drawn. Few comparable studies have investigated the relationship between obesity and grade in breast cancer, and a recent study could not detect any association (Chagpar et al. 2007). Thus, analysis including further tumour characteristics is motivated. However, this study, using a more descriptive approach, was not able to detect any further associations.

Dietary habits were characterised by total energy intake, macronutrient intake (fat, carbohydrate, and protein), alcohol, and three different groups of fatty acids (saturated fatty acid (SFA), mono-unsaturated fatty acid (MUFA), and poly-unsaturated fatty acid (PUFA)).

Analyses indicated an association between reported low energy intake and tumours of nuclear grade III, high proliferation (Ki67), and overexpression of cyclin D1. Animal studies have shown a reduced risk of mammary tumours among energy-restricted rodents (Thompson et al. 1999) and, additionally, reduced tumour cell proliferation via G1 cell cycle arrest (Zhu et al. 1999). The latter finding is not concordant with our results; however, it is unknown whether the beneficial effect of energy restriction is applicable for humans. Body constitution can be an indirect measure of energy restriction, and some studies propose an increased breast cancer risk in adult life following low childhood BMI (Hilakivi-Clarke et al. 2001, Magnusson et al. 1998), as opposed to other studies reporting a decreased risk of breast cancer and cancer in general following severe anorexia nervosa (Mellemkjaer et al. 2001, Michels et al. 2004). These studies did not evaluate the risk of different breast cancer sub-groups and breast cancer risk assessments were not carried out in this pilot study, hence further comparisons are not possible.

Total fat intake was inversely associated with proliferation and cyclin D1 expression with the strongest associations seen in analyses using dichotomized variables of Ki67 and cyclin D1, and weakened results following energy-adjustment. In general, human studies on fat-mediated effects on tumour characteristics have been limited to studies on the impact on fatty acids and not total fat intake. In the literature, many attempts to link a particular dietary factor to breast cancer risk has been found, although the results are contradictory (Willett 2001). We could not demonstrate significant associations between carbohydrate, protein, or alcohol intakes and tumour characteristics.

Low intakes of SFAs, MUFAs, and PUFAs, were associated with tumours with high proliferation, and results were most evident in the dichotomized model, and corresponded with the results on total fat intake. Following energy-adjustment, PUFA and proliferation sustained a significant association, contrary to SFA and MUFA. Low SFA- and MUFA intake was further associated with cyclin D1 over-expression, whereas only low SFA-intake was associated with a high nuclear grade. Breast cancer protective effects have been demonstrated for diets high in n-3 PUFAs, and animal studies report reduced tumour growth and metastasis subsequent to n-3 PUFA high diets (Hilakivi-Clarke et al. 2004). Other studies report an increased breast cancer incidence associated with higher intake of n-6 PUFAs (Wirfalt et al. 2002). Different effects on expression of cell cycle proteins has been shown, with increased cyclin D1 mRNA levels associated with n-6 PUFAs and, oppositely, a n-3 PUFA-mediated reduction in cyclin D1 levels (Hilakivi-Clarke et al. 2004). However, due to excessively many variables included in this study, further sub-analyses on n-6 and n-3 PUFAs were not carried out, but would be of great interest in future and larger studies.

In conclusion, this study indicates that a lower energy intake, especially fat intake, is associated with breast tumours characterised by more malignant features. Further studies are needed to achieve firm conclusions in this field.

Paper II

We analysed the risk of different breast cancer subgroups according to HRT-use in the cohort of 12 583 peri- or postmenopausal women in the MDCS with 332 incident breast cancers until end of follow-up, 31 Dec 2001.

Baseline characteristics differed among groups defined by HRT-use. CHRT-users were younger, higher educated, more often previous users of oral contraceptives (OC), had a lower BMI, had a more frequent alcohol intake, and were more often current smokers as compared to ERT-users and non-users. The characteristics of CHRT-users in the MDCS correspond well with other recent European reports (Bakken et al. 2001, Nagel et al. 2007, van Duijnhoven et al. 2006). HRT-use is associated with several factors, i.e. societal circumstances, the attitude of the physician, potential contradictions to HRT, and the extent of menopausal symptoms (Heitmann et al. 2005). Deficiency symptoms are caused by low available serum-levels of estrogen, which may be due to a lower BMI or current smoking (Nagel et al. 2005). Alcohol consumption, however, lead to higher levels of estrogen (Onland-Moret et al. 2005), and the more frequent alcohol intake among CHRT-users might reflect societal factors rather than hormonal circumstances. The observed association between OC-use and HRT-use can hardly be explained by altered estrogen levels during menopausal years, and might mirror a general acceptance of exogenous hormones. Further gynaecological history did not differ remarkably among HRT-defined groups, apart from an expected higher fraction of peri-menopausal women among CHRT-users.

Use of HRT regimens lacking progestins, estrogen replacement therapy (ERT), did not influence breast cancer risk. Few women used single-progestin regimens (PRT), among whom only one was diagnosed with breast cancer and further risk analyses for PRT were inappropriate. Current use of estrogen and progestin combined HRT (CHRT), increased the overall risk of breast cancer. The observed differentiated risk estimates depending on the favoured HRT regimen is concordant with most other studies (Colditz 2005). The biological role of progestins in breast cancer development is still unclear; some have proposed a synergistic effect of estrogen and progestin in tumour promoting processes (Bigsby 2002), and novel studies point out non-progesterone-like effects of the synthetic progestins used in HRT (Campagnoli et al. 2005) and might be avoided by using natural progesterone instead (Fournier et al. 2005). In the present study, data on continuous or sequential regimens of CHRT were not included and further sub-grouping was avoided. In similarity, was information on administration (transdermal or oral) not taken into account, whereas vaginal administrated hormonal replacement was considered less relevant in this study and therefore not included. The risk of breast cancer is most likely not affected by the preferred CHRT regimen or administration route (Collins et al. 2005).

All incident invasive breast tumours were re-evaluated concerning histological type, grade, tumour size, and lymph node metastasis. Following CHRT use, we found a high risk of lobular cancer (ILC) in the multivariate analysis, with a relative risk estimate exceeding the general risk of breast cancer among CHRT-users. The association between CHRT and ILC has been reported previously (Biglia et al. 2007), indicating that the raising incidence of ILC might be caused by CHRT. Although ILC is associated with presumably favourable prognostic characteristics, i.e. low grade, low proliferation, and HER2 negativity, women with ILC do not display improved clinical outcome compared to other histological types (Arpino et al. 2004). Delayed diagnosis due to the multifocal growth pattern of ILC failing to form distinctive masses, may influence survival. Furthermore, histological sub-typing is probably of limited value in investigation of the effects of exogenous hormones, and with modern tumour analysis techniques further insight can be achieved.

An increased risk of grade I tumours was seen among CHRT-users, and further confirmed in heterogeneity analyses. Similar results was obtained in another Malmö study (Manjer, Malina et al. 2001). We further analyses each grade-component separately and found that nuclear atypia was associated with CHRT-use, but tubular formation was not. Tumours with a low mitotic index (NHG based) and low proliferative activity estimated by Ki67 nuclear fraction, were more frequent among current users of CHRT compared to ERT- or non-users, tallying other studies (Biglia et al. 2005, Manjer, Malina et al. 2001, Sacchini et al. 2002).

Risk-analyses according to hormone receptor expression revealed almost identical results in sub-group analysis indicating that CHRT did not influence the expression of neither ERa, nor ER β and PgR. The ERa negative group was rather small with a correspondingly wide confidence interval and solid conclusions are difficult to draw. Our results concerning ERa and PgR expression do, however, correspond with results from large studies as The Women's Health Initiative Trial (Chlebowski et al. 2003). Regrettably, no other studies have addressed ER β expression following HRT use.

The evaluation of HER2 status was performed by IHC followed by FISH analysis. Unfortunately, many cases were lost in the preparation for FISH-analysis, hence making the corresponding results rather weak. We decided to dichotomize IHC obtained HER2 results to achieve an adequate number of cases in each sub-group, and found a higher risk of HER2 (2+,3+) tumours compared to HER2 (0,1+) among CHRT-users. However, we are well aware of the risk of type 1 error and the lack of related studies to verify our preliminary findings.

Finally, we analysed the potential impact of CHRT on tumour expression of two cell cycle regulating proteins, the onocogene cyclin D1 and the suppressor gene p27. We found that CHRT-use was associated with an increased risk of tumours with no or low cyclin D1 expression, whereas over-expression of cyclin D1 was not significantly associated with CHRT in the multivariate analysis. However, there is a risk of type 2 error in this group due to the rather small sample size. The biological explanation for a lower content of the protein cyclin D1 among CHRT-users is uncertain and has, until now, not been addressed in the literature. Although cyclin D1 is a downstream target of the estrogen mediated activation of the estrogen receptor, cyclin D1 has ER independent functions as well, and the role of both ERT and CHRT in cyclin D1 defined breast cancer will need further studies with improved statistical power. Cases were more equally distributed in p27 defined sub-groups, and we observed a higher risk of tumours with a normally high expression of p27, compared to more malignant phenotypes with no or low expression of p27. A lower p27 expression might be an estrogen-mediated effect of CHRT, whereas progestin is likely to play the opposite role (Gompel et al. 2004).

In conclusion, ERT was not a risk factor for breast cancer in general and neither for any of the examined sub-groups. Current CHRT-use increases the general risk of breast cancer, however, mostly affecting the risk of less malignant phenotypes, which might indicate that CHRT-induced breast tumours may originate from dormant, low-malignant tumour cells rather than inducing breast cancer *de novo*.

Paper III

Body constitution, height, weight, BMI, waist- and hip circumference, and body-fat percentage, was related to the risk of postmenopausal breast cancer defined by various pathological and tumour-biological parameters.

Among 9685 peri- and postmenopausal women, with no prevalent breast cancer, or HRTuse at baseline, 305 women were diagnosed with incident breast cancer until end of follow-up, 31 Dec, 2004. The association between anthropometrics and breast cancer differs according to menopausal status making stratification necessary, hence, the present study focused on peri- and postmenopausal breast cancer. In anthropometric studies, exclusion of HRT-users is now well-established (Feigelson et al. 2004, Huang et al. 1999, Morimoto et al. 2002). HRT is a strong risk factor for breast cancer by which associations between body constitution and breast cancer are blurred. Furthermore, BMI and HRT are often reported negatively associated, probably due to low endogenous hormone levels in lean women resulting in more frequent HRT-use (Nagel et al. 2007). Further, exclusion of all prevalent breast cancer cases was decided on as it might have influenced body constitution. Some might argue that exclusion of all subjects with prevalent cancer would be appropriate in this study, but this will also introduce selection of an improperly healthy population. We did, however, repeat analyses with exclusion of all prevalent cancers and found similar results.

We compared baseline characteristics among women with incident breast cancer and the rest of the study cohort and modest differences were observed. Breast cancer cases were slightly older, had a higher age at menarche, at first child birth, and at menopause, and finally, had more frequent alcohol consumption habits and were more often ex-smokers. These observations are in line with similar comparisons performed in paper II, and the minor differences between the two studies, i.e. age at baseline and educational level is probably explained by the exclusion of HRT-users in paper III.

There are numerous anthropometric measurements, all with different advantages depending on the study aim, resulting in an individual choice of measurement in each study. To date, it is still unclear which anthropometric measure represents the best predictor of breast cancer risk. We used six well-established measurements in this study where we focused on breast cancer risk defined by rather novel sub-groups. Examples of other anthropometric measures in the literature are waist-hip-ratio, skin fold measurements, breast size, and weight change in particular time periods (Friedenreich 2001). Especially, weight change has received much attention in epidemiological studies with many attempts to define the most vulnerable time of weight gain according to breast cancer risk (Ballard-Barbash 1994, Friedenreich 2001) and would probably be of interest to evaluate in further similar studies.

All anthropometric measures were categorized into quartiles. The overall risk of invasive breast cancer was positively associated with height, corresponding with the findings in paper I, as well as weight, BMI, waist – and hip circumference, and body fat percentage. The highest point estimate was observed for waist circumference measuring abdominal obesity, which is reasonable bearing in mind that many hormonal and metabolic changes associated with abdominal adiposity are associated with increased breast cancer risk as well (Ballard-Barbash 1994).

Anthropometric factors are often regarded as modifiable risk factors, with the exception of height, which displays different associations with breast cancer risk in sub-group analysis. Height is mainly determined by genetic factors and, in particular populations, further influenced by nutritional conditions in childhood (van den Brandt et al. 2000). Hence, height may be described on its own opposite to the remaining five anthropometric measures with rather identical associations to breast cancer risks.

In analyses of histological type, we found a higher risk of invasive ductal carcinoma (IDC) in the fourth quartile for all anthropometric measures, although displaying a risk estimate rather similar to the general risk of invasive breast cancer. A high risk of ILC was only seen in the top quartiles of waist- and hip circumference and might mirror increased levels of bio-available estrogen in similarity with the increased risk for ILC among CHRT-users. Anthropometrics and risk of certain histological subtypes of breast cancer has been addressed by Li *et al*, although not demonstrating a significant risk of ILC in obese women (Li et al. 2006, Li et al. 2003). There are several methodological differences between the present study and the studies performed by Li *et al* and further studies are needed to clarify true associations.

Women in the top quartiles of anthropometric measures had an increased risk of grade II tumours. In comparison with the results obtained in paper I, both studies indicate an association between obesity and grade II breast cancer. Further conclusions are difficult to draw as grade II tumours are a heterogeneous group with a variety of biological disparities, and comparable studies have not been found. Proliferation was estimated by expression of Ki67, and risk analysis revealed that women in the fourth quartile had a higher risk of tumours with low proliferation.

ERa, ER β , and PgR expression were dichotomized according to the clinically used cut-off at 10%. Results demonstrated an unambiguous pattern with a high risk of ERa+, ER β -, and PgR+ breast tumours among obese women, true for all anthropometric factors except height. We hypothesised that associations might be strengthened in repeated analysis within the ERa positive group. The results for modifiable anthropometric factors were similar, but a higher risk for ER β positive tumours among tall women emerged. Our results on ERa- and PgR positive tumours in obese women are in accordance with previous studies (Rosenberg et al. 2006, Suzuki et al. 2006). On the contrary, ER β status has only been included in one previous study on anthropometrics and breast cancer (Sherman et al. 2007). In the study performed by Sherman *et al*, ER β status was not associated to the analysed variable, BMI, but comparison with this study is difficult due to several differences in methodological conditions.

Obesity was further associated with a higher risk of tumours not over-expressing cyclin D1 and tumours with a maintained high level of p27. However, the results on cell cycle regulating proteins were complicated to interpret with less consistent trends. The risks of cyclin D1 low tumours was, to some extent, differentially associated with anthropometrics, however displaying a significant "p for trend" in all measures, except for height. In analyses of p27 defined breast cancer, p27 low tumours were associated with waist and p27 high tumours with hip circumference. Distribution of fat might be relevant for tumour expression of p27, and women with abdominal obesity should then be at a higher risk of more malignant p27 low tumours. However, abdominal obesity did not differ from other obesity measurements in risk analyses using other tumour characteristics and further studies are needed for clarification of the impact on p27 defined breast cancer risk by various obesity markers. Taken together, obesity may be associated with the expression of cell cycle proteins, but further investigations are needed.

In conclusion, obesity, estimated in various ways, is associated with an increased risk of breast cancer of a less aggressive phenotype displaying low ER β expression.

Paper IV

The expression of the enzyme 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A reductase (HMG-CoAR) in invasive breast cancer was mapped and correlated to other tumour characteristics and estrogen-related life style factors, such as HRT and obesity.

HMG-CoAR was expressed in the cytoplasm displaying diversity in fraction and intensity among tumours. Membranous staining was observed in 15 % of the evaluated tumours, whereas nucleus staining was absent in all cases in accordance with the reported subcellular localisation of HMG-CoAR in endoplasmatic reticulum and peroxisomes (Aboushadi et al. 2000). As opposed to the normal glandular epithelium, HMG-CoAR expression was stronger in apocrine epithelium as reported by others (Celis et al. 2006).

In correlation analyses, expression of HMG-CoAR (fraction and intensity) was negatively associated with tumour size, grade, and proliferation. Up-regulation of HMG-CoAR activity is a well-established event in cancer cells, probably reflecting an increased demand for isoprenoids (Mo et al. 2004). The observed absent or low HMG-CoAR expression in more malignant tumours might be explained by an inability to preserve the mevalonate pathway in poorly differentiated cancer cells combined with a resistant sterol feed-back mechanism (Mo et al. 2004).

HMG-CoAR (fraction and intensity) correlated positively to both estrogen receptors, but not to the progesterone receptor. The association between HMG-CoAR and ERa support the notion of high HMG-CoAR expression in less malignant breast tumours. The clinical relevance of ER β expression in breast cancer is not yet evident and the impact of the association to HMG-CoAR is difficult to elucidate from this study. A strong positive association between HMG-CoAR and the tumour suppressor gene p27 was found, further indicating a positive prognostic value of HMG-CoAR in breast cancer. We could not demonstrate a significant association with cyclin D1 expression, however, tumours with strong HMG-CoAR intensity had a non-significantly lower fraction of cyclin D1 negative tumours compared to tumours with absent or low HMG-CoAR expression.

Membranous and cytoplasmic HMG-CoAR expression were differentially associated to established tumour characteristics, especially HER2 status. The HMG-CoAR and HER2 staining pattern are comparable, both presenting with membranous patterns and might contribute to the observed association. However, the statistical power is limited given the relatively low number of tumours with HMG-CoAR membranous staining, and further biological clarification is beyond this first, descriptive study on HMG-CoAR expression.

Tumour specific expression of HMG-CoAR in breast cancer has not been reported earlier, hence, knowledge concerning valid antibodies is sparse. For IHC detection of HMG-CoAR, we used a commercial antibody, but given the few studies in this area, we performed an internal antibody validation. The Western blot analysis revealed a single band corresponding to the molecular weight of HMG-CoAR, and the antibody was verified in both negative and positive cell lines. HMG-CoAR has been described in two variants with slightly different molecular weights, probably corresponding to two different sub-cellular localizations (Aboushadi et al. 2000), and it might be questioned whether this antibody recognized both variants. We cannot rule out the possibility that only one HMG-CoAR variant was recognized by the antibody used and additional studies are needed to determine the sub-cellular localisation of the HMG-CoAR recognised by the antibody used in this study.

Several studies have demonstrated HMG-CoAR regulating properties exerted by estrogens (Di Croce et al. 1996, Messa et al. 2005, Ness et al. 2000), which encouraged to further investigation of the association between HMG-CoAR expression and estrogen-related factors as HRT-use and obesity (Yasui et al. 2005).

In comparison with paper II, this study included another 182 breast cancer cases (followup extended to year 2004), and showed similar results for CHRT-use as a strong predictor for incident breast cancer. Further analyses revealed a significant risk for all breast cancer sub-groups defined by HMG-CoAR expression among CHRT-users. The riskestimates were higher for tumours with high expression of HMG-CoAR, although the association did not reach statistical significance in the heterogeneity analysis. However, in paper II, CHRT-use was associated with favourable tumour characteristics and supports the present findings given the previously described associations between HMG-CoAR and other tumour parameters.

In general, obese women have higher levels of endogenous estrogen (Mahabir et al. 2006, Yasui et al. 2005), and we hypothesised that obesity could influence the risk of HMG-CoAR defined breast cancer. We found an increased risk of HMG-CoAR high (fraction and intensity) tumours in obese women belonging to the top quartile of waist and BMI corresponding with results achieved from analyses on HRT. Studies on life style factors and HMG-CoAR expression in breast cancer are sparse. However, one study has investigated the effects of dietary factors on HMG-CoAR activity and found that the weak estrogen genistein (soy) mediated inhibition of breast cancer cells, and the authors concluded that it was partially caused by HMG-CoAR inhibition (Duncan et al. 2005).

In conclusion, HMG-CoAR is differentially expressed in invasive breast cancer and is associated with favourable tumour characteristics. This study further indicated that estrogen-related life style factors, such as HRT-use and obesity, might influence HMG-CoAR expression in breast cancer.

Paper V

A consecutive breast cancer cohort (CBCC) of 512 invasive breast cancers diagnosed at the Malmö University Hospital between 1988 and 1992 forms the basis of this study. We analysed the association between the recently identified estrogen receptor, ER β and established clinicopathological parameters. Furthermore, the response to endocrine therapy in relation to ER β status was analysed, the endpoint being disease-free survival (DFS) defined as time to first recurrence.

The expression of ER β was strongly associated with ERa- and PgR expression. Coexpression of the estrogen receptors has commonly been reported, whereas ER β -PgR coexpression is ambiguously reported (Fuqua et al. 2003).Despite interrelation of all three hormone receptors, they were differently associated with other tumour parameters. Contrary to ER β , the expression of ERa revealed expected associations with age at diagnosis, tumour size, grade, HER2 status, and proliferation (Ki67). Similar results have been reported others (Fuqua et al. 2003) whereas others report associations between ER β and less aggressive tumour characteristics (Speirs et al. 2004). We hypothesised that combinations of ERa-ER β sub-groups might clarify associations to other pathology parameters however; no further information was achieved by doing so.

The prognostic significance of ER β was analysed using DFS as end-point, yet the results revealed no significant association between ER β expression and DFS, irrespectively of coexpression with ERa. Repeated analyses for overall survival (OS) provided similar results. The strongest determinants for DFS in this study was tumour size, grade, and lymph node status, however, subgroups of these parameters were equally distributed among ER β subgroups. Currently, the prognostic value of ER β status is still debated (Speirs et al. 2004) and further studies are needed to clarify its role as a prognostic marker.

ERa is generally considered a favourable prognostic marker in breast cancer during the first years after diagnosis, although only showing a modest effect on recurrence rate over years (Osborne 1998). We analysed the prognostic value of ERa in the CBCC with a median follow-up time of 106 months and neither DFS, nor OS, were associated with ERa status. In contrast to the estrogen receptors, PgR expression was associated with significantly improved survival, an observation supported by other studies (Mohsin et al. 2004).

The role of ER β as a predictor of response to endocrine therapy has received remarkable attention since its identification in 1996. In a recent review, Murphy et al, report that co-expression with ERa (ERa+ER β +) has almost consistently been associated with an increased likelihood of response to endocrine therapy (Murphy et al. 2006). Additionally, ERa negative patients might benefit from endocrine therapy if tumours express ER β (Gruvberger-Saal et al. 2007). Therefore, we wanted to investigate the predictive significance of ER β expression in endocrine treated patients. First, DFS was estimated for endocrine treated patients with ERa+ER β +, ERa+ER β -, ERa-ER β +, or ERa-ER β - tumours and revealed an adverse outcome for patients with ER α negative tumours, although this was not statistically significant. In patients who had not received endocrine therapy, DFS did not differ according to ER β expression. Furthermore, we investigated outcome according to endocrine therapy in separate analyses for patients with ER β + tumours whereas ER β - patients did worse following endocrine therapy compared to ER β + patients.

In the interpretation of the results it must be remembered that this study was not a randomised trial. Moreover, when we investigated potential differences among endocrine treated patients and others, we observed associations between endocrine therapy and low age at diagnosis, large tumour size, high tumour grade, and positive node status. However, we believe that this study indicates a role of ER β in the response to endocrine

therapy and our results are generally in line with those of others (Hopp, Weiss, Parra et al. 2004, Iwase et al. 2003), supporting our findings.

In conclusion, ER β is strongly related to other hormone receptors, however not displaying a significant prognostic role in breast cancer. Co-expression of both estrogen receptors may predict an improved response to endocrine therapy.

CONCLUSIONS

In this thesis we found that molecular characteristics of breast cancers vary by different life style factors. By gaining further insight into the relationship between etiological exposures and aberrant molecular pathways in breast cancer, we might eventually be able to identify molecular targets for risk assessment, prevention, and novel therapeutic targets.

Specifically we conclude that:

- A low energy intake prior to breast cancer diagnosis is associated with a more malignant phenotype characterised by nuclear grade III, a high proliferation index, and cyclin D1 over-expression.
- A lower total fat intake is associated with breast cancer displaying high proliferation and especially, a low intake of polyunsaturated fatty acids was associated with high proliferation.
- Combined hormonal replacement therapy is associated with an increased risk of less malignant breast cancer, characterised by lobular type, low grade, low proliferation, negative/low cyclin D1 expression, and maintained p27 expression.
- Obesity is associated with a high risk of breast cancer characterised by lobular type, grade II, low proliferation, HER2 negativity, ERa+, PgR+, but negative ER β expression.
- The enzyme 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A reductase (HMG-CoAR) is differentially expressed in the cytoplasm in invasive breast cancer and associated with small tumour size, low grade, low proliferation, and expression of ERa and ERβ, but not PgR.
- High HMG-CoAR expression in breast cancer is associated with estrogen-related factors such as hormonal replacement therapy and obesity.
- ERβ expression is associated with ERα- and PgR expression in breast cancer, but not with tumour size, grade, lymph node metastasis, HER2, or proliferation.
- The expression of ER β in breast cancer is not a prognostic factor, but co-expression of both estrogen receptors is associated with an improved response to endocrine therapy.

POPULÄRVETENSKAPLIG SAMMANFATTNING PÅ SVENSKA

(Summary in Swedish)

Bröstcancer är globalt sett den vanligaste tumörsjukdomen bland kvinnor med över en miljon nya fall per år. I den industrialiserade delen av världen kan en utav nio kvinnor förvänta sig att insjukna i bröstcancer under sin livstid. Antalet kvinnor som insjuknar i bröstcancer ökar, vilket sannolikt har många bidragande faktorer. En viktig faktor är introduktionen av mammografiscreening som resulterar i att brösttumörer diagnostiseras mycket tidigare och i vissa fall handlar det om att man identifierar tumörer som kanske aldrig hade upptäckts under kvinnans livstid. Andra möjliga orsaker till det ökande antalet fall kan vara ändrade livsstilsmönstrar vad gäller sent barnafödande, antal barn, användning av hormoner, fetma, rökning och ändrade kost- och alkoholvanor.

Under många år har man studerat kopplingar mellan livsstilsfaktorer och bröstcancer, men resultaten skiljer sig åt mellan olika studier och det har således varit svårt att fastställa tydliga samband. En förklaring till detta kan vara att bröstcancer ofta har studerats som en och samma sjukdom. Experimentella studier har dock visat att det finns en stor biologisk variation mellan olika brösttumörer, varför det är lämpligt att studera bröstcancer som en heterogen sjukdom för att bättre kunne förstå verkningsmekanismen mellan yttre livsstilsfaktorer och uppkomsten av en tumör.

Målsättningen med våra studier har varit att undersöka sambandet mellan ett antal livsstilsfaktorer och risken för att insjukna i specifika bröstcancertyper definierade utifrån histopatologiska och tumörbiologiska karakteristika. Målsättningen har varit att identifiera faktorer som dels påverkar risken för speciellt aggressiva brösttumörer, dels hänger samman med hur den enskilda kvinnan svarar på behandlingen, och slutligen hur detta kan påverka prognosen på lång sikt. Detta kan förhoppningsvis öka vår kunskap om hur vi kan minska insjuknande och död relaterat till bröstcancer.

I Malmö finns ett unikt material för att just studera olika livsstilsfaktorer och deras betydelse för uppkomsten av tumörsjukdomar: Under 1990-talet etablerades Malmö Kost Cancer studien där 17 035 frivilliga kvinnor deltog. Deltagarna lämnade detaljerade upplysningar om bland annat matvanor, livsstilsvanor, medicin, utbildning, yrke, tidigare sjukdomar och mycket mer. Vid studiestart bedömdes även kroppsmått och det togs ett antal blodprover. Studien stängdes 1996 och sedan dess har man årligen kopplat Malmö Kost Cancer databasen mot cancerregistret och på så sätt identifierat eventuella nya cancerfall. Denna avhandling är baserad på de kvinnor som deltog i Malmö Kost Cancer studien och som insjuknade i bröstcancer fram till och med 2004.

I våra studier analyserade vi vävnad från bortopererade bröstcancrar som hade arrangerats i så kallade vävnadsarrayer för att möjliggöra analys av hundratals patientprover samtidigt. Med denna metod kunde vi på ett såväl reagens- som vävnadsbesparande sätt analysera uttrycket av olika proteiner i relation till olika biologiska undergrupper av tumörer, livsstilsrelaterade faktorer och/eller sjukdomsutfall.

I den kliniska vardagen analyseras bröstcancer för ett flertal patologiska karakteristika som i sin tur används för vägledning i valet av rätt behandling samt prognostisk information till patienten. Modern bröstcancerforskning har bidragit till att det ständigt identifieras nya lovande tumörmarkörer som dels ökar förståelsen för tumörers biologi, dels möjliggör en långt mera individuell behandlingsplan för den enskilda patienten. Vi ville därför karakterisera brösttumörer baserat på såväl etablerade patologiparametrar som uttryck av proteiner vilka på olika sätt upp- eller nedreglerar cellens förmåga att

dela sig. Därutöver undersökte vi förekomsten av en nyligen identifierad hormonreceptor i bröstcancer, östrogenreceptor β samt ett enzym, HMG-CoA reduktas, som har en betydande roll i kolesterolsyntesen, men sannolikt även i tumörutveckling.

Denna avhandling består av fyra arbeten baserade på 622 bröstcancerfall från Malmö Kost Cancer studien samt ett arbete baserat på 512 bröstcancerfall från en konsekutiv kohort från Malmö.

I det första arbetet undersökte vi relationen mellan matvanor och ett antal tumörkarakteristika. Våra resultat visade att ett lågt rapporterat samlat energiintag var relaterad till mera aggressiva tumörkarakteristika samt ett högt uttryck av ett tumörstimulerande protein, cyclin D1. Det samlade energi intag består generellt av fett, kolhydrater och protein. Våra resultat visade en koppling mellan lågt fettintag och hög celldelningsfrekvens, medan intaget av kolhydrater och protein inte visade något samband med tumörkarakteristika. Många epidemiologiska studier har visad en ökad risk för bröstcancer vid högt fettintag, och våra resultat indikerar att lågt fettintag är relaterat till mer aggressiva brösttumörer och *vice versa*.

I det andra arbetet undersökte vi risken för att insjukna i olika typer av postmenopausal bröstcancer efter hormonanvändning i klimakteriet. Vi fann, i likhet med många andra studier, en väsentlig ökad risk för bröstcancer vid användning av kombinerade hormonpreparat innehållande både östrogen och progesteron, men inte för preparat enbart bestående av östrogen. Hormonanvändning ökade risken specifikt för tumörer som vi hade karakteriserat som "snälla", dvs. med bevarad cellstruktur, låg celldelningsfrekvens, lågt uttryck av cyclin D1 och ett normalt uttryck av ett tumörhämmande protein, p27. Däremot fann vi ingen skillnad i uttrycket av hormonreceptorer bland kvinnor som hade använt hormoner jämfört med ickeanvändare.

I det tredje arbetet undersökte vi sambandet mellan kroppsbyggnad och risken för olika typer av postmenopausal bröstcancer. Vi använde sex olika mått på kroppsbyggnad – längd, vikt, body mass index (BMI), höft- och midjeomfång samt kroppsfett i procent. Alla sex mått visade ett positivt samband med en generellt ökad risk för bröstcancer. Vi fann vidare att långa kvinnor hade en ökad risk för mindre aggressiv bröstcancer. Oavsett vilket av de övriga fem mått vi analyserade visade våra resultat att överviktiga kvinnor hade en ökad risk för "snällare" tumörer med låg cell delningsfrekvens, negativ HER2 status, och ett högt uttryck av östrogen- och progesteronreceptorer. Däremot var övervikt inte kopplat till uttrycket av östrogenreceptor β .

I det fjärde arbetet undersökte vi tumöruttrycket av enzymet 3-hydroxy-3methylglutaryl-coenzyme A reduktas (HMG-CoAR) och dess relation till mera etablerade tumörkarakteristika samt till östrogenrelaterade livsstilsfaktorer som hormonanvändning och övervikt. Vi fann att HMG-CoAR var uttryckt i tumörcellers cytoplasma, men inte i kärnorna, och att uttrycket varierade starkt mellan olika brösttumörer. Resultaten visade vidare ett samband mellan högt uttryck av HMG-CoAR och gynnsamma tumörkarakteristika såsom liten tumörstorlek, välbevarad cellstruktur, låg celldelningsfrekvens, och ett högt uttryck av båda östrogenreceptorerna, men dock inte av progesteronreceptorn. I likhet med det andra och tredje arbetet fann vi att hormonanvändande och överviktiga kvinnor hade en ökad risk för sannolikt mindre aggressiva tumörer, i detta fall tumörer med högt HMG-CoAR uttryck.

Det femte arbetet baserades på en kohort av kvinnor som mellan 1988 och 1992 opererades för bröstcancer i Malmö, sammanlagt 512 kvinnor. I detta arbete undersökte vi förekomsten av östrogenreceptor β i brösttumörer och hur ett högt uttryck var kopplat till övriga tumörkarakteristika, samt till överlevnad efter anti-hormonell behandling. Vi fann att högt uttryck av östrogenreceptor β var relaterat till högt östrogenreceptor a och progesteronreceptor uttryck, men inte till övriga etablerade tumörkarakteristika. I

överlevnadsanalyser var östrogenreceptor β inte en prognostisk faktor och således inte relaterad till sjukdomsåterfall, men däremot fann vi att bland de kvinnor som hade fått antihormonell behandling var prognosen bäst för de kvinnor vars tumörer uttryckte båda östrogenreceptorerna.

Med denna avhandling kan vi konkludera att ett flertal livsstilsfaktorer är kopplade till specifika typer av bröstcancer; lågt fettintag och aggressiva tumörkarakteristika var relaterade till varandra, medan övervikt och hormonanvändning för klimakteriebesvär ökade risken för snällare brösttumörer. HMG-CoA reduktas är en ny tumörmarkör i bröstcancer, som kan vara kopplad till östrogennivåer i kroppen. HMG-CoA reduktas kan utgöra ett potentiellt mål för cancerbehandling med kolesterolsänkande läkemedel (statiner) och det återstår att undersöka om det skulle kunna ha betydelse i behandlingen av bröstcancer. En nylig identifierad östrogenreceptor är relaterad till den traditionella östrogenreceptorn i bröstcancer och kan eventuellt bidra med ökad kunskap om vilka kvinnor som har störst nytta av endokrin behandling.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

 ${\rm I}$ wish to express my deep and sincere gratitude to all the people who helped me to complete this thesis.

In particular, I would like to thank:

Göran Landberg, my principal supervisor, for introducing me to research and for your original idea of combining life style epidemiology with tumour biology. Your strong belief in this area made us stay on the track all the way along.

Jonas Manjer, my co-supervisor. I admire your diplomatic skills, your vast knowledge in the epidemiological jungle, your never-failing accuracy when it comes to tables, and everything spiced with a distinctive sense of humour. This thesis would never have "harboured" without you!

Karin Jirström, my co-supervisor in this project and in many other aspects of life. Thank you for great friendship, lots of laughter, and always providing me with plenty of energy when ever needed. Working with you is great!

Lola Anagnostaki, for sharing your great knowledge as a "senior" breast pathologist and as an experienced conference queen at the Refreshment Desk.

Maria Stendahl, for superb company at the lab, in Nice, and many other places.

Elise Nilsson, for your marvellous working capacity with all the glasses and the TMAs, you are a true TMA-angel!

Carsten Rose, my mentor in research and boss in the clinical life, for your firm support, your encouragement in combining research and clinical work, and for your endless optimism when times are rough.

Mikael Eriksson, my clinical supervisor, for valuable discussion about life as a doctor and priorities in life in general.

Malin Goldman, Karolina Helzcynska, Ami Larsson, and Alexander Gaber, my dear roommates, for creating a sublime atmosphere with fruitful discussions, lots of laughter, and a little bit of gossip.

Kristina Nilsson, Caroline Holm, Pontus Berglund, Katja Lundgren, and Eva Diffner, and many other doctoral students, for pleasant collaboration.

Kristin Lindell for your kind support with all administrative aspects. **Kristina Möller** for keeping the lab together, always with a smile.

Co-authors, **Elisabet Wirfält, Bo Gullberg, Göran Berglund, Soraya Djerbi,** and **Fredrik Pontén**, for stimulating and valuable contributions.

Friends and colleagues at the Department of Oncology in Lund, for creating such a warm and out-standing environment at our department. Looking forward to joining you again!

All my precious friends in Denmark and Sweden, for friendship, fun, and patience with me during the last year. It is such a privilege being your friend!

My family in law, **Marianne** and **Lars, Jennie** and **Niklas, Maria** and **Ola**, for your warm welcome into the Borgquists, and for support and loving care for "kidsen", especially the last year with two theses to be written down.

All my sisters and brothers **Mette**, **Jeppe**, **Magnus**, **Malte**, **Thor**, and **Nanna**, for creating such a joyful and continuous chaos around me, always making me forget research frustrations.

My parents, **Hanne** and **Ib**, for your unconditional love and encouragement and a neverending confidence in my capacity – and for letting me go abroad when I needed to.

 $\ensuremath{\textbf{Rasmus}}$, my love, for a magnificent marriage with endless love, dual support, and great fun.

Gustav, Ida, and **Albert**, our wonderful children, for creating a lovely universe of everlasting concerns, joy, and laughter. Verdens bedste børn!

Finally, I am grateful for financial support from the Governmental funding of Clinical Research within the National Health Services (ALF) which made this thesis possible. Furthermore, these studies were generously supported by grants from the Swedish Cancer Society, Swegene/Wallenberg Consortium North and Malmö University Research Funds.

REFERENCES

[Histological typing of breast tumors. Second edition. World Health Organization. Geneva, 1981]. Ann Pathol, 2: 91-105, 1982.

Effects of adjuvant tamoxifen and of cytotoxic therapy on mortality in early breast cancer. An overview of 61 randomized trials among 28,896 women. Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group. N Engl J Med, *319:* 1681-92, 1988.

Breast cancer and hormonal contraceptives: collaborative reanalysis of individual data on 53 297 women with breast cancer and 100 239 women without breast cancer from 54 epidemiological studies. Collaborative Group on Hormonal Factors in Breast Cancer. Lancet, *347*: 1713-27, 1996.

Randomized trial of two versus five years of adjuvant tamoxifen for postmenopausal early stage breast cancer. Swedish Breast Cancer Cooperative Group. J Natl Cancer Inst, *88:* 1543-9, 1996.

Breast cancer and hormone replacement therapy: collaborative reanalysis of data from 51 epidemiological studies of 52,705 women with breast cancer and 108,411 women without breast cancer. Collaborative Group on Hormonal Factors in Breast Cancer. Lancet, *350*: 1047-59, 1997.

Tamoxifen for early breast cancer: an overview of the randomised trials. Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group. Lancet, 351: 1451-67, 1998.

Familial breast cancer: collaborative reanalysis of individual data from 52 epidemiological studies including 58,209 women with breast cancer and 101,986 women without the disease. Lancet, *358:* 1389-99, 2001.

Effects of chemotherapy and hormonal therapy for early breast cancer on recurrence and 15-year survival: an overview of the randomised trials. Lancet, *365:* 1687-717, 2005.

Abd El-Rehim, D. M., Ball, G., Pinder, S. E., Rakha, E., Paish, C. et al. High-throughput protein expression analysis using tissue microarray technology of a large well-characterised series identifies biologically distinct classes of breast cancer confirming recent cDNA expression analyses. Int J Cancer, *116*: 340-50, 2005.

Aboushadi, N., Shackelford, J. E., Jessani, N., Gentile, A., and Krisans, S. K. Characterization of peroxisomal 3hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase in UT2 cells: sterol biosynthesis, phosphorylation, degradation, and statin inhibition. Biochemistry, *39*: 237-47, 2000.

Allred, D. C., Brown, P., and Medina, D. The origins of estrogen receptor alpha-positive and estrogen receptor alpha-negative human breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res, 6: 240-5, 2004.

Althuis, M. D., Brogan, D. R., Coates, R. J., Daling, J. R., Gammon, M. D. et al. Hormonal content and potency of oral contraceptives and breast cancer risk among young women. Br J Cancer, 88: 50-7, 2003.

Althuis, M. D., Dozier, J. M., Anderson, W. F., Devesa, S. S., and Brinton, L. A. Global trends in breast cancer incidence and mortality 1973-1997. Int J Epidemiol, *34*: 405-12, 2005.

Anderson, T. J., Battersby, S., King, R. J., McPherson, K., and Going, J. J. Oral contraceptive use influences resting breast proliferation. Hum Pathol, 20: 1139-44, 1989.

Ansink, A. C., and Burger, C. W. Oral contraceptives and breast cancer risk. J Clin Oncol, 25: 5327, 2007.

Antoniou, A., Pharoah, P. D., Narod, S., Risch, H. A., Eyfjord, J. E. et al. Average risks of breast and ovarian cancer associated with BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutations detected in case Series unselected for family history: a combined analysis of 22 studies. Am J Hum Genet, *72:* 1117-30, 2003.

Arpino, G., Bardou, V. J., Clark, G. M., and Elledge, R. M. Infiltrating lobular carcinoma of the breast: tumor characteristics and clinical outcome. Breast Cancer Res, *6*: R149-56, 2004.

Arpino, G., Weiss, H., Lee, A. V., Schiff, R., De Placido, S. et al. Estrogen receptor-positive, progesterone receptor-negative breast cancer: association with growth factor receptor expression and tamoxifen resistance. J Natl Cancer Inst, *97*: 1254-61, 2005.

Bakken, K., Eggen, A. E., and Lund, E. Hormone replacement therapy in Norwegian women, 1996-1997. Maturitas, 40: 131-41, 2001.

Ballard-Barbash, R. Anthropometry and breast cancer. Body size--a moving target. Cancer, 74: 1090-100, 1994.

Band, P. R., Le, N. D., Fang, R., and Deschamps, M. Carcinogenic and endocrine disrupting effects of cigarette smoke and risk of breast cancer. Lancet, *360:* 1044-9, 2002.

Banks, E., Beral, V., Cameron, R., Hogg, A., Langley, N. et al. Agreement between general practice prescription data and self-reported use of hormone replacement therapy and treatment for various illnesses. J Epidemiol Biostat, *6*: 357-63, 2001.

Banks, E., Beral, V., Cameron, R., Hogg, A., Langley, N. et al. Comparison of various characteristics of women who do and do not attend for breast cancer screening. Breast Cancer Res, *4*: R1, 2002.

Baquet, C. R., and Commiskey, P. Socioeconomic factors and breast carcinoma in multicultural women. Cancer, 88: 1256-64, 2000.

Bardou, V. J., Arpino, G., Elledge, R. M., Osborne, C. K., and Clark, G. M. Progesterone receptor status significantly improves outcome prediction over estrogen receptor status alone for adjuvant endocrine therapy in two large breast cancer databases. J Clin Oncol, *21:* 1973-9, 2003.

Baron, J. A., La Vecchia, C., and Levi, F. The antiestrogenic effect of cigarette smoking in women. Am J Obstet Gynecol, *162:* 502-14, 1990.

Benson, J. R., Weaver, D. L., Mittra, I., and Hayashi, M. The TNM staging system and breast cancer. Lancet Oncol, 4: 56-60, 2003.

Beral, V. Breast cancer and hormone-replacement therapy in the Million Women Study. Lancet, *362*: 419-27, 2003.

Bergh, J., Jonsson, P. E., Glimelius, B., and Nygren, P. A systematic overview of chemotherapy effects in breast cancer. Acta Oncol, 40: 253-81, 2001.

Berglund, G., Elmstahl, S., Janzon, L., and Larsson, S. A. The Malmo Diet and Cancer Study. Design and feasibility. J Intern Med, 233: 45-51, 1993.

Bernstein, L., Patel, A. V., Ursin, G., Sullivan-Halley, J., Press, M. F. et al. Lifetime recreational exercise activity and breast cancer risk among black women and white women. J Natl Cancer Inst, *97*: 1671-9, 2005.

Berry, M., Metzger, D., and Chambon, P. Role of the two activating domains of the oestrogen receptor in the cell-type and promoter-context dependent agonistic activity of the anti-oestrogen 4-hydroxytamoxifen. Embo J, *9*: 2811-8, 1990.

Bezemer, I. D., Rinaldi, S., Dossus, L., Gils, C. H., Peeters, P. H. et al. C-peptide, IGF-I, sex-steroid hormones and adiposity: a cross-sectional study in healthy women within the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC). Cancer Causes Control, *16*: 561-72, 2005.

Biglia, N., Mariani, L., Sgro, L., Mininanni, P., Moggio, G. et al. Increased incidence of lobular breast cancer in women treated with hormone replacement therapy: implications for diagnosis, surgical and medical treatment. Endocr Relat Cancer, *14*: 549-67, 2007.

Biglia, N., Sgro, L., Defabiani, E., De Rosa, G., Ponzone, R. et al. The influence of hormone replacement therapy on the pathology of breast cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol, *31*: 467-72, 2005.

Bigsby, R. M. Synergistic tumor promoter effects of estrone and progesterone in methylnitrosourea-induced rat mammary cancer. Cancer Lett, *179*: 113-9, 2002.

Bilancia, D., Rosati, G., Dinota, A., Germano, D., Romano, R. et al. Lapatinib in breast cancer. Ann Oncol, 18 Suppl 6: vi26-30, 2007.

Bouchardy, C., Verkooijen, H. M., and Fioretta, G. Social class is an important and independent prognostic factor of breast cancer mortality. Int J Cancer, *119*: 1145-51, 2006.

Boyd, N. F., Guo, H., Martin, L. J., Sun, L., Stone, J. et al. Mammographic density and the risk and detection of breast cancer. N Engl J Med, 356: 227-36, 2007.

Bray, F., McCarron, P., and Parkin, D. M. The changing global patterns of female breast cancer incidence and mortality. Breast Cancer Res, 6: 229-39, 2004.

Brown, S. B., Hole, D. J., and Cooke, T. G. Breast cancer incidence trends in deprived and affluent Scottish women. Breast Cancer Res Treat, *103*: 233-8, 2007.

Bukholm, I. R., Bukholm, G., and Nesland, J. M. Over-expression of cyclin A is highly associated with early relapse and reduced survival in patients with primary breast carcinomas. Int J Cancer, *93*: 283-7, 2001.

Buzdar, A., and Howell, A. Advances in aromatase inhibition: clinical efficacy and tolerability in the treatment of breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res, 7: 2620-35, 2001.

Buzdar, A. U., Ibrahim, N. K., Francis, D., Booser, D. J., Thomas, E. S. et al. Significantly higher pathologic complete remission rate after neoadjuvant therapy with trastuzumab, paclitaxel, and epirubicin chemotherapy: results of a randomized trial in human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-positive operable breast cancer. J Clin Oncol, *23*: 3676-85, 2005.

Callmer, E., Riboli, E., Saracci, R., Akesson, B., and Lindgarde, F. Dietary assessment methods evaluated in the Malmo food study. J Intern Med, 233: 53-7, 1993.

Camp, R. L., Charette, L. A., and Rimm, D. L. Validation of tissue microarray technology in breast carcinoma. Lab Invest, *80:* 1943-9, 2000.

Campagnoli, C., Clavel-Chapelon, F., Kaaks, R., Peris, C., and Berrino, F. Progestins and progesterone in hormone replacement therapy and the risk of breast cancer. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol, *96:* 95-108, 2005.

Cariou, S., Catzavelos, C., and Slingerland, J. M. Prognostic implications of expression of the cell cycle inhibitor protein p27Kip1. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 52: 29-41, 1998.

Celis, J. E., Gromova, I., Gromov, P., Moreira, J. M., Cabezon, T. et al. Molecular pathology of breast apocrine carcinomas: a protein expression signature specific for benign apocrine metaplasia. FEBS Lett, *580:* 2935-44, 2006.

Chagpar, A. B., McMasters, K. M., Saul, J., Nurko, J., Martin, R. C., 2nd et al. Body mass index influences palpability but not stage of breast cancer at diagnosis. Am Surg, 73: 555-60; discussion 560, 2007.

Chan, K. K., Oza, A. M., and Siu, L. L. The statins as anticancer agents. Clin Cancer Res, 9: 10-9, 2003.

Chetrite, G. S., Cortes-Prieto, J., Philippe, J. C., Wright, F., and Pasqualini, J. R. Comparison of estrogen concentrations, estrone sulfatase and aromatase activities in normal, and in cancerous, human breast tissues. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol, *72*: 23-7, 2000.

Chlebowski, R. T., Hendrix, S. L., Langer, R. D., Stefanick, M. L., Gass, M. et al. Influence of estrogen plus progestin on breast cancer and mammography in healthy postmenopausal women: the Women's Health Initiative Randomized Trial. Jama, *289*: 3243-53, 2003.

Cianfrocca, M., and Goldstein, L. J. Prognostic and predictive factors in early-stage breast cancer. Oncologist, 9: 606-16, 2004.

Clarke, R. B., Howell, A., Potten, C. S., and Anderson, E. Dissociation between steroid receptor expression and cell proliferation in the human breast. Cancer Res, *57:* 4987-91, 1997.

Clavel-Chapelon, F. Differential effects of reproductive factors on the risk of pre- and postmenopausal breast cancer. Results from a large cohort of French women. Br J Cancer, *86:* 723-7, 2002.

Clemons, M., and Goss, P. Estrogen and the risk of breast cancer. N Engl J Med, 344: 276-85, 2001.

Colacurci, N., Fornaro, F., De Franciscis, P., Palermo, M., and del Vecchio, W. Effects of different types of hormone replacement therapy on mammographic density. Maturitas, *40*: 159-64, 2001.

Colditz, G. A. Estrogen, estrogen plus progestin therapy, and risk of breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res, 11: 909s-17s, 2005.

Cole, M. P., Jones, C. T., and Todd, I. D. A new anti-oestrogenic agent in late breast cancer. An early clinical appraisal of ICI46474. Br J Cancer, 25: 270-5, 1971.

Collins, J. A., Blake, J. M., and Crosignani, P. G. Breast cancer risk with postmenopausal hormonal treatment. Hum Reprod Update, 11: 545-60, 2005.

Conneely, O. M., Jericevic, B. M., and Lydon, J. P. Progesterone receptors in mammary gland development and tumorigenesis. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia, 8: 205-14, 2003.

Conner, P., Soderqvist, G., Skoog, L., Graser, T., Walter, F. et al. Breast cell proliferation in postmenopausal women during HRT evaluated through fine needle aspiration cytology. Breast Cancer Res Treat, *78:* 159-65, 2003.

Crew, K. D., Greenlee, H., Capodice, J., Raptis, G., Brafman, L. et al. Prevalence of joint symptoms in postmenopausal women taking aromatase inhibitors for early-stage breast cancer. J Clin Oncol, *25:* 3877-83, 2007.

Cristofanilli, M., Gonzalez-Angulo, A., Sneige, N., Kau, S. W., Broglio, K. et al. Invasive lobular carcinoma classic type: response to primary chemotherapy and survival outcomes. J Clin Oncol, 23: 41-8, 2005.

Crowell, P. L. Prevention and therapy of cancer by dietary monoterpenes. J Nutr, 129: 775S-778S, 1999.

Cypriani, B., Tabacik, C., Descomps, B., and Crastes de Paulet, A. Role of estrogen receptors and antiestrogen binding sites in an early effect of antiestrogens, the inhibition of cholesterol biosynthesis. J Steroid Biochem, *31:* 763-71, 1988.

D'Eredita, G., Giardina, C., Martellotta, M., Natale, T., and Ferrarese, F. Prognostic factors in breast cancer: the predictive value of the Nottingham Prognostic Index in patients with a long-term follow-up that were treated in a single institution. Eur J Cancer, *37*: 591-6, 2001.

Daling, J. R., Malone, K. E., Doody, D. R., Johnson, L. G., Gralow, J. R. et al. Relation of body mass index to tumor markers and survival among young women with invasive ductal breast carcinoma. Cancer, *92:* 720-9, 2001.

Deans, A. J., Simpson, K. J., Trivett, M. K., Brown, M. A., and McArthur, G. A. Brca1 inactivation induces p27(Kip1)-dependent cell cycle arrest and delayed development in the mouse mammary gland. Oncogene, 23: 6136-45, 2004.

Deapen, D., Liu, L., Perkins, C., Bernstein, L., and Ross, R. K. Rapidly rising breast cancer incidence rates among Asian-American women. Int J Cancer, *99:* 747-50, 2002.

Di Croce, L., Bruscalupi, G., and Trentalance, A. Independent behavior of rat liver LDL receptor and HMGCoA reductase under estrogen treatment. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, *224*: 345-50, 1996.

Di Croce, L., Vicent, G. P., Pecci, A., Bruscalupi, G., Trentalance, A. et al. The promoter of the rat 3-hydroxy-3methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase gene contains a tissue-specific estrogen-responsive region. Mol Endocrinol, *13*: 1225-36, 1999.

Dietel, M., Lewis, M. A., and Shapiro, S. Hormone replacement therapy: pathobiological aspects of hormonesensitive cancers in women relevant to epidemiological studies on HRT: a mini-review. Hum Reprod, *20:* 2052-60, 2005.

Dowsett, M., Bartlett, J., Ellis, I. O., Salter, J., Hills, M. et al. Correlation between immunohistochemistry (HercepTest) and fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) for HER-2 in 426 breast carcinomas from 37 centres. J Pathol, *199*: 418-23, 2003.

Duncan, R. E., El-Sohemy, A., and Archer, M. C. Dietary factors and the regulation of 3-hydroxy-3methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase: implications for breast cancer and development. Mol Nutr Food Res, *49:* 93-100, 2005.

Duncan, R. E., El-Sohemy, A., and Archer, M. C. Regulation of HMG-CoA reductase in MCF-7 cells by genistein, EPA, and DHA, alone and in combination with mevastatin. Cancer Lett, 224: 221-8, 2005.

Duncan, R. E., Lau, D., El-Sohemy, A., and Archer, M. C. Geraniol and beta-ionone inhibit proliferation, cell cycle progression, and cyclin-dependent kinase 2 activity in MCF-7 breast cancer cells independent of effects on HMG-CoA reductase activity. Biochem Pharmacol, *68*: 1739-47, 2004.

Earp, H. S., Dawson, T. L., Li, X., and Yu, H. Heterodimerization and functional interaction between EGF receptor family members: a new signaling paradigm with implications for breast cancer research. Breast Cancer Res Treat, *35*: 115-32, 1995.

Eastell, R., Hannon, R. A., Cuzick, J., Dowsett, M., Clack, G. et al. Effect of an aromatase inhibitor on bmd and bone turnover markers: 2-year results of the Anastrozole, Tamoxifen, Alone or in Combination (ATAC) trial (18233230). J Bone Miner Res, *21:* 1215-23, 2006.

Easton, D. F., Pooley, K. A., Dunning, A. M., Pharoah, P. D., Thompson, D. et al. Genome-wide association study identifies novel breast cancer susceptibility loci. Nature, *447*: 1087-93, 2007.

Eden, P., Ritz, C., Rose, C., Ferno, M., and Peterson, C. "Good Old" clinical markers have similar power in breast cancer prognosis as microarray gene expression profilers. Eur J Cancer, *40*: 1837-41, 2004.

Eliassen, A. H., Missmer, S. A., Tworoger, S. S., Spiegelman, D., Barbieri, R. L. et al. Endogenous steroid hormone concentrations and risk of breast cancer among premenopausal women. J Natl Cancer Inst, *98:* 1406-15, 2006.

Elmore, J. G., Carney, P. A., Abraham, L. A., Barlow, W. E., Egger, J. R. et al. The association between obesity and screening mammography accuracy. Arch Intern Med, *164:* 1140-7, 2004.

Elston, C. W., and Ellis, I. O. Pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer. I. The value of histological grade in breast cancer: experience from a large study with long-term follow-up. Histopathology, *19*: 403-10, 1991.

Enmark, E., Pelto-Huikko, M., Grandien, K., Lagercrantz, S., Lagercrantz, J. et al. Human estrogen receptor beta-gene structure, chromosomal localization, and expression pattern. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, *82:* 4258-65, 1997.

Esslimani-Sahla, M., Simony-Lafontaine, J., Kramar, A., Lavaill, R., Mollevi, C. et al. Estrogen receptor beta (ER beta) level but not its ER beta cx variant helps to predict tamoxifen resistance in breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res, *10*: 5769-76, 2004.

Faggiano, F., Partanen, T., Kogevinas, M., and Boffetta, P. Socioeconomic differences in cancer incidence and mortality. IARC Sci Publ: 65-176, 1997.

Feigelson, H. S., Jonas, C. R., Teras, L. R., Thun, M. J., and Calle, E. E. Weight gain, body mass index, hormone replacement therapy, and postmenopausal breast cancer in a large prospective study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, *13*: 220-4, 2004.

Fero, M. L., Rivkin, M., Tasch, M., Porter, P., Carow, C. E. et al. A syndrome of multiorgan hyperplasia with features of gigantism, tumorigenesis, and female sterility in p27(Kip1)-deficient mice. Cell, 85: 733-44, 1996.

Flototto, T., Niederacher, D., Hohmann, D., Heimerzheim, T., Dall, P. et al. Molecular mechanism of estrogen receptor (ER)alpha-specific, estradiol-dependent expression of the progesterone receptor (PR) B-isoform. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol, *88*: 131-42, 2004.

Fournier, A., Berrino, F., Riboli, E., Avenel, V., and Clavel-Chapelon, F. Breast cancer risk in relation to different types of hormone replacement therapy in the E3N-EPIC cohort. Int J Cancer, *114*: 448-54, 2005.

Friedenreich, C. M. Review of anthropometric factors and breast cancer risk. Eur J Cancer Prev, 10: 15-32, 2001.

Fuqua, S. A., Schiff, R., Parra, I., Friedrichs, W. E., Su, J. L. et al. Expression of wild-type estrogen receptor beta and variant isoforms in human breast cancer. Cancer Res, 59: 5425-8, 1999.

Fuqua, S. A., Schiff, R., Parra, I., Moore, J. T., Mohsin, S. K. et al. Estrogen receptor beta protein in human breast cancer: correlation with clinical tumor parameters. Cancer Res, *63*: 2434-9, 2003.

Geisler, J., and Lonning, P. E. Endocrine effects of aromatase inhibitors and inactivators in vivo: review of data and method limitations. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol, *95:* 75-81, 2005.

Genestie, C., Zafrani, B., Asselain, B., Fourquet, A., Rozan, S. et al. Comparison of the prognostic value of Scarff-Bloom-Richardson and Nottingham histological grades in a series of 825 cases of breast cancer: major importance of the mitotic count as a component of both grading systems. Anticancer Res, *18*: 571-6, 1998.

Gillett, C., Fantl, V., Smith, R., Fisher, C., Bartek, J. et al. Amplification and overexpression of cyclin D1 in breast cancer detected by immunohistochemical staining. Cancer Res, *54*: 1812-7, 1994.

Gillett, C. E., Smith, P., Peters, G., Lu, X., and Barnes, D. M. Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p27Kip1 expression and interaction with other cell cycle-associated proteins in mammary carcinoma. J Pathol, *187:* 200-6, 1999.

Goldstein, J. L., and Brown, M. S. Regulation of the mevalonate pathway. Nature, 343: 425-30, 1990.

Gompel, A., Chaouat, M., Hugol, D., and Forgez, P. Steroidal hormones and proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis in breast cells. Maturitas, 49: 16-24, 2004.

Greendale, G. A., Palla, S. L., Ursin, G., Laughlin, G. A., Crandall, C. et al. The association of endogenous sex steroids and sex steroid binding proteins with mammographic density: results from the Postmenopausal Estrogen/Progestin Interventions Mammographic Density Study. Am J Epidemiol, *162*: 826-34, 2005.

Greendale, G. A., Reboussin, B. A., Slone, S., Wasilauskas, C., Pike, M. C. et al. Postmenopausal hormone therapy and change in mammographic density. J Natl Cancer Inst, *95:* 30-7, 2003.

Greiser, C. M., Greiser, E. M., and Doren, M. Menopausal hormone therapy and risk of breast cancer: a metaanalysis of epidemiological studies and randomized controlled trials. Hum Reprod Update, *11*: 561-73, 2005.

Gruvberger-Saal, S. K., Bendahl, P. O., Saal, L. H., Laakso, M., Hegardt, C. et al. Estrogen receptor beta expression is associated with tamoxifen response in ERalpha-negative breast carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res, *13*: 1987-94, 2007.

Hamajima, N., Hirose, K., Tajima, K., Rohan, T., Calle, E. E. et al. Alcohol, tobacco and breast cancer-collaborative reanalysis of individual data from 53 epidemiological studies, including 58,515 women with breast cancer and 95,067 women without the disease. Br J Cancer, *87*: 1234-45, 2002. Han, D., Nie, J., Bonner, M. R., McCann, S. E., Muti, P. et al. Lifetime adult weight gain, central adiposity, and the risk of pre- and postmenopausal breast cancer in the Western New York exposures and breast cancer study. Int J Cancer, *119*: 2931-7, 2006.

Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, R. A. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell, 100: 57-70, 2000.

Hartman, M., Lindstrom, L., Dickman, P. W., Adami, H. O., Hall, P. et al. Is breast cancer prognosis inherited? Breast Cancer Res, *9*: R39, 2007.

Harvie, M., Hooper, L., and Howell, A. H. Central obesity and breast cancer risk: a systematic review. Obes Rev, 4: 157-73, 2003.

Heitmann, C., Greiser, E., and Doren, M. The impact of the Women's Health Initiative Randomized Controlled Trial 2002 on perceived risk communication and use of postmenopausal hormone therapy in Germany. Menopause, *12*: 405-11, 2005.

Hemminki, K., Ji, J., Forsti, A., Sundquist, J., and Lenner, P. Survival in breast cancer is familial. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2007.

Hilakivi-Clarke, L., Forsen, T., Eriksson, J. G., Luoto, R., Tuomilehto, J. et al. Tallness and overweight during childhood have opposing effects on breast cancer risk. Br J Cancer, 85: 1680-4, 2001.

Hilakivi-Clarke, L., Wang, C., Kalil, M., Riggins, R., and Pestell, R. G. Nutritional modulation of the cell cycle and breast cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer, 11: 603-22, 2004.

Hoffman-Goetz, L., Apter, D., Demark-Wahnefried, W., Goran, M. I., McTiernan, A. et al. Possible mechanisms mediating an association between physical activity and breast cancer. Cancer, *83*: 621-8, 1998.

Hofseth, L. J., Raafat, A. M., Osuch, J. R., Pathak, D. R., Slomski, C. A. et al. Hormone replacement therapy with estrogen or estrogen plus medroxyprogesterone acetate is associated with increased epithelial proliferation in the normal postmenopausal breast. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, *84*: 4559-65, 1999.

Hofvind, S., Moller, B., Thoresen, S., and Ursin, G. Use of hormone therapy and risk of breast cancer detected at screening and between mammographic screens. Int J Cancer, *118*: 3112-7, 2006.

Holmes, M. D., Liu, S., Hankinson, S. E., Colditz, G. A., Hunter, D. J. et al. Dietary carbohydrates, fiber, and breast cancer risk. Am J Epidemiol, *159:* 732-9, 2004.

Hopp, T. A., Weiss, H. L., Hilsenbeck, S. G., Cui, Y., Allred, D. C. et al. Breast cancer patients with progesterone receptor PR-A-rich tumors have poorer disease-free survival rates. Clin Cancer Res, *10*: 2751-60, 2004.

Hopp, T. A., Weiss, H. L., Parra, I. S., Cui, Y., Osborne, C. K. et al. Low levels of estrogen receptor beta protein predict resistance to tamoxifen therapy in breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res, *10:* 7490-9, 2004.

Horwitz, K. B., and McGuire, W. L. Specific progesterone receptors in human breast cancer. Steroids, 25: 497-505, 1975.

Howe, G. R., Hirohata, T., Hislop, T. G., Iscovich, J. M., Yuan, J. M. et al. Dietary factors and risk of breast cancer: combined analysis of 12 case-control studies. J Natl Cancer Inst, *82:* 561-9, 1990.

Howell, A., Cuzick, J., Baum, M., Buzdar, A., Dowsett, M. et al. Results of the ATAC (Arimidex, Tamoxifen, Alone or in Combination) trial after completion of 5 years' adjuvant treatment for breast cancer. Lancet, *365:* 60-2, 2005.

Howell, A., DeFriend, D. J., Robertson, J. F., Blamey, R. W., Anderson, L. et al. Pharmacokinetics, pharmacological and anti-tumour effects of the specific anti-oestrogen ICI 182780 in women with advanced breast cancer. Br J Cancer, *74*: 300-8, 1996.

Huang, Z., Willett, W. C., Colditz, G. A., Hunter, D. J., Manson, J. E. et al. Waist circumference, waist:hip ratio, and risk of breast cancer in the Nurses' Health Study. Am J Epidemiol, *150:* 1316-24, 1999.

Hunter, D. J., Spiegelman, D., Adami, H. O., Beeson, L., van den Brandt, P. A. et al. Cohort studies of fat intake and the risk of breast cancer--a pooled analysis. N Engl J Med, *334*: 356-61, 1996.

Hwang, T. S., Han, H. S., Hong, Y. C., Lee, H. J., and Paik, N. S. Prognostic value of combined analysis of cyclin D1 and estrogen receptor status in breast cancer patients. Pathol Int, *53*: 74-80, 2003.

Iwase, H., Zhang, Z., Omoto, Y., Sugiura, H., Yamashita, H. et al. Clinical significance of the expression of estrogen receptors alpha and beta for endocrine therapy of breast cancer. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol, *52 Suppl 1:* S34-8, 2003.

Jayasinghe, U. W., Bilous, A. M., and Boyages, J. Is survival from infiltrating lobular carcinoma of the breast different from that of infiltrating ductal carcinoma? Breast J, 13: 479-85, 2007.

Jernstrom, H., Loman, N., Johannsson, O. T., Borg, A., and Olsson, H. Impact of teenage oral contraceptive use in a population-based series of early-onset breast cancer cases who have undergone BRCA mutation testing. Eur J Cancer, *41*: 2312-20, 2005.

Jirstrom, K., Stendahl, M., Ryden, L., Kronblad, A., Bendahl, P. O. et al. Adverse effect of adjuvant tamoxifen in premenopausal breast cancer with cyclin D1 gene amplification. Cancer Res, *65*: 8009-16, 2005.

Jonas, C. R., McCullough, M. L., Teras, L. R., Walker-Thurmond, K. A., Thun, M. J. et al. Dietary glycemic index, glycemic load, and risk of incident breast cancer in postmenopausal women. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, *12*: 573-7, 2003.

Jonat, W., Gnant, M., Boccardo, F., Kaufmann, M., Rubagotti, A. et al. Effectiveness of switching from adjuvant tamoxifen to anastrozole in postmenopausal women with hormone-sensitive early-stage breast cancer: a metaanalysis. Lancet Oncol, 7: 991-6, 2006.

Kaizer, L., Boyd, N. F., Kriukov, V., and Tritchler, D. Fish consumption and breast cancer risk: an ecological study. Nutr Cancer, *12*: 61-8, 1989.

Kamangar, F., Dores, G. M., and Anderson, W. F. Patterns of cancer incidence, mortality, and prevalence across five continents: defining priorities to reduce cancer disparities in different geographic regions of the world. J Clin Oncol, 24: 2137-50, 2006.

Kato, K., Cox, A. D., Hisaka, M. M., Graham, S. M., Buss, J. E. et al. Isoprenoid addition to Ras protein is the critical modification for its membrane association and transforming activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 89: 6403-7, 1992.

Kaufman, Z., Shpitz, B., Shapiro, M., Rona, R., Lew, S. et al. Triple approach in the diagnosis of dominant breast masses: combined physical examination, mammography, and fine-needle aspiration. J Surg Oncol, *56*: 254-7, 1994.

Kavanagh, A. M., Mitchell, H., and Giles, G. G. Hormone replacement therapy and accuracy of mammographic screening. Lancet, 355: 270-4, 2000.

Kenny, F. S., Hui, R., Musgrove, E. A., Gee, J. M., Blamey, R. W. et al. Overexpression of cyclin D1 messenger RNA predicts for poor prognosis in estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res, 5: 2069-76, 1999.

Key, T., Appleby, P., Barnes, I., and Reeves, G. Endogenous sex hormones and breast cancer in postmenopausal women: reanalysis of nine prospective studies. J Natl Cancer Inst, *94:* 606-16, 2002.

Key, T. J., Appleby, P. N., Reeves, G. K., Roddam, A., Dorgan, J. F. et al. Body mass index, serum sex hormones, and breast cancer risk in postmenopausal women. J Natl Cancer Inst, 95: 1218-26, 2003.

Keyomarsi, K., O'Leary, N., Molnar, G., Lees, E., Fingert, H. J. et al. Cyclin E, a potential prognostic marker for breast cancer. Cancer Res, 54: 380-5, 1994.

Khan, S. A., Rogers, M. A., Obando, J. A., and Tamsen, A. Estrogen receptor expression of benign breast epithelium and its association with breast cancer. Cancer Res, *54*: 993-7, 1994.

King, H., and Locke, F. B. Cancer mortality among Chinese in the United States. J Natl Cancer Inst, 65: 1141-8, 1980.

Kononen, J., Bubendorf, L., Kallioniemi, A., Barlund, M., Schraml, P. et al. Tissue microarrays for high-throughput molecular profiling of tumor specimens. Nat Med, *4*: 844-7, 1998.

Kritchevsky, D. Caloric restriction and experimental mammary carcinogenesis. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 46: 161-7, 1997.

Kuiper, G. G., Enmark, E., Pelto-Huikko, M., Nilsson, S., and Gustafsson, J. A. Cloning of a novel receptor expressed in rat prostate and ovary. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, *93:* 5925-30, 1996.

Kuper, H., Ye, W., Weiderpass, E., Ekbom, A., Trichopoulos, D. et al. Alcohol and breast cancer risk: the alcoholism paradox. Br J Cancer, *83:* 949-51, 2000.

Lagerlund, M., Maxwell, A. E., Bastani, R., Thurfjell, E., Ekbom, A. et al. Sociodemographic predictors of nonattendance at invitational mammography screening--a population-based register study (Sweden). Cancer Causes Control, *13*: 73-82, 2002. Lahmann, P. H., Friedenreich, C., Schuit, A. J., Salvini, S., Allen, N. E. et al. Physical activity and breast cancer risk: the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, *16*: 36-42, 2007.

Lahmann, P. H., Hoffmann, K., Allen, N., van Gils, C. H., Khaw, K. T. et al. Body size and breast cancer risk: findings from the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer And Nutrition (EPIC). Int J Cancer, *111*: 762-71, 2004.

Lambe, M., Hsieh, C., Trichopoulos, D., Ekbom, A., Pavia, M. et al. Transient increase in the risk of breast cancer after giving birth. N Engl J Med, *331*: 5-9, 1994.

Landberg, G. Multiparameter analyses of cell cycle regulatory proteins in human breast cancer: a key to definition of separate pathways in tumorigenesis. Adv Cancer Res, *84*: 35-56, 2002.

Li, C. I., Daling, J. R., Malone, K. E., Bernstein, L., Marchbanks, P. A. et al. Relationship between established breast cancer risk factors and risk of seven different histologic types of invasive breast cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, *15*: 946-54, 2006.

Li, C. I., Malone, K. E., Porter, P. L., Weiss, N. S., Tang, M. T. et al. Reproductive and anthropometric factors in relation to the risk of lobular and ductal breast carcinoma among women 65-79 years of age. Int J Cancer, *107:* 647-51, 2003.

Liao, J. K. Isoprenoids as mediators of the biological effects of statins. J Clin Invest, 110: 285-8, 2002.

Lin, C. Y., Strom, A., Li Kong, S., Kietz, S., Thomsen, J. S. et al. Inhibitory effects of estrogen receptor beta on specific hormone-responsive gene expression and association with disease outcome in primary breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res, *9*: R25, 2007.

Lipworth, L. Epidemiology of breast cancer. Eur J Cancer Prev, 4: 7-30, 1995.

Liu, Q., Wuu, J., Lambe, M., Hsieh, S. F., Ekbom, A. et al. Transient increase in breast cancer risk after giving birth: postpartum period with the highest risk (Sweden). Cancer Causes Control, *13*: 299-305, 2002.

Lohrisch, C., and Piccart, M. An overview of HER2. Semin Oncol, 28: 3-11, 2001.

Loman, N., Bladstrom, A., Johannsson, O., Borg, A., and Olsson, H. Cancer incidence in relatives of a population-based set of cases of early-onset breast cancer with a known BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation status. Breast Cancer Res, *5:* R175-86, 2003.

Longnecker, M. P., Newcomb, P. A., Mittendorf, R., Greenberg, E. R., Clapp, R. W. et al. Risk of breast cancer in relation to lifetime alcohol consumption. J Natl Cancer Inst, 87: 923-9, 1995.

Lukas, J., Pagano, M., Staskova, Z., Draetta, G., and Bartek, J. Cyclin D1 protein oscillates and is essential for cell cycle progression in human tumour cell lines. Oncogene, *9*: 707-18, 1994.

Magnusson, C., Baron, J., Persson, I., Wolk, A., Bergstrom, R. et al. Body size in different periods of life and breast cancer risk in post-menopausal women. Int J Cancer, *76:* 29-34, 1998.

Mahabir, S., Baer, D. J., Johnson, L. L., Hartman, T. J., Dorgan, J. F. et al. Usefulness of body mass index as a sufficient adiposity measurement for sex hormone concentration associations in postmenopausal women. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, *15*: 2502-7, 2006.

Malmstrom, P., Holmberg, L., Anderson, H., Mattsson, J., Jonsson, P. E. et al. Breast conservation surgery, with and without radiotherapy, in women with lymph node-negative breast cancer: a randomised clinical trial in a population with access to public mammography screening. Eur J Cancer, *39*: 1690-7, 2003.

Manjer, J., Berglund, G., Bondesson, L., Garne, J. P., Janzon, L. et al. Breast cancer incidence in relation to smoking cessation. Breast Cancer Res Treat, *61*: 121-9, 2000.

Manjer, J., Carlsson, S., Elmstahl, S., Gullberg, B., Janzon, L. et al. The Malmo Diet and Cancer Study: representativity, cancer incidence and mortality in participants and non-participants. Eur J Cancer Prev, *10:* 489-99, 2001.

Manjer, J., Elmstahl, S., Janzon, L., and Berglund, G. Invitation to a population-based cohort study: differences between subjects recruited using various strategies. Scand J Public Health, *30:* 103-12, 2002.

Manjer, J., Malina, J., Berglund, G., Bondeson, L., Garne, J. P. et al. Increased incidence of small and welldifferentiated breast tumours in post-menopausal women following hormone-replacement therapy. Int J Cancer, *92*: 919-22, 2001.

Manjer, J., Malina, J., Berglund, G., Bondeson, L., Garne, J. P. et al. Smoking associated with hormone receptor negative breast cancer. Int J Cancer, *91*: 580-4, 2001.

Mann, S., Laucirica, R., Carlson, N., Younes, P. S., Ali, N. et al. Estrogen receptor beta expression in invasive breast cancer. Hum Pathol, *32:* 113-8, 2001.

Mattisson, I., Wirfalt, E., Aronsson, C. A., Wallstrom, P., Sonestedt, E. et al. Misreporting of energy: prevalence, characteristics of misreporters and influence on observed risk estimates in the Malmo Diet and Cancer cohort. Br J Nutr, *94*: 832-42, 2005.

McGee, T. P., Cheng, H. H., Kumagai, H., Omura, S., and Simoni, R. D. Degradation of 3-hydroxy-3methylglutaryl-CoA reductase in endoplasmic reticulum membranes is accelerated as a result of increased susceptibility to proteolysis. J Biol Chem, *271*: 25630-8, 1996.

McKenna, N. J., Lanz, R. B., and O'Malley, B. W. Nuclear receptor coregulators: cellular and molecular biology. Endocr Rev, 20: 321-44, 1999.

McKenna, N. J., and O'Malley, B. W. Combinatorial control of gene expression by nuclear receptors and coregulators. Cell, *108*: 465-74, 2002.

McMahon, C., Suthiphongchai, T., DiRenzo, J., and Ewen, M. E. P/CAF associates with cyclin D1 and potentiates its activation of the estrogen receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, *96:* 5382-7, 1999.

McTiernan, A., Martin, C. F., Peck, J. D., Aragaki, A. K., Chlebowski, R. T. et al. Estrogen-plus-progestin use and mammographic density in postmenopausal women: women's health initiative randomized trial. J Natl Cancer Inst, 97: 1366-76, 2005.

Mellemkjaer, L., Emborg, C., Gridley, G., Munk-Jorgensen, P., Johansen, C. et al. Anorexia nervosa and cancer risk. Cancer Causes Control, 12: 173-7, 2001.

Menasce, L. P., White, G. R., Harrison, C. J., and Boyle, J. M. Localization of the estrogen receptor locus (ESR) to chromosome 6q25.1 by FISH and a simple post-FISH banding technique. Genomics, *17*: 263-5, 1993.

Merlo, J., Berglund, G., Wirfalt, E., Gullberg, B., Hedblad, B. et al. Self-administered questionnaire compared with a personal diary for assessment of current use of hormone therapy: an analysis of 16,060 women. Am J Epidemiol, *152*: 788-92, 2000.

Mersin, H., Yildirim, E., Gulben, K., and Berberoglu, U. Is invasive lobular carcinoma different from invasive ductal carcinoma? Eur J Surg Oncol, *29*: 390-5, 2003.

Messa, C., Notarnicola, M., Russo, F., Cavallini, A., Pallottini, V. et al. Estrogenic regulation of cholesterol biosynthesis and cell growth in DLD-1 human colon cancer cells. Scand J Gastroenterol, 40: 1454-61, 2005.

Michels, K. B., and Ekbom, A. Caloric restriction and incidence of breast cancer. Jama, 291: 1226-30, 2004.

Michels, K. B., Mohllajee, A. P., Roset-Bahmanyar, E., Beehler, G. P., and Moysich, K. B. Diet and breast cancer: a review of the prospective observational studies. Cancer, *109*: 2712-49, 2007.

Michels, K. B., Xue, F., Colditz, G. A., and Willett, W. C. Induced and spontaneous abortion and incidence of breast cancer among young women: a prospective cohort study. Arch Intern Med, *167*: 814-20, 2007.

Mirza, A. N., Mirza, N. Q., Vlastos, G., and Singletary, S. E. Prognostic factors in node-negative breast cancer: a review of studies with sample size more than 200 and follow-up more than 5 years. Ann Surg, 235: 10-26, 2002.

Missmer, S. A., Eliassen, A. H., Barbieri, R. L., and Hankinson, S. E. Endogenous estrogen, androgen, and progesterone concentrations and breast cancer risk among postmenopausal women. J Natl Cancer Inst, *96*: 1856-65, 2004.

Mo, H., and Elson, C. E. Studies of the isoprenoid-mediated inhibition of mevalonate synthesis applied to cancer chemotherapy and chemoprevention. Exp Biol Med (Maywood), *229:* 567-85, 2004.

Mohsin, S. K., Weiss, H., Havighurst, T., Clark, G. M., Berardo, M. et al. Progesterone receptor by immunohistochemistry and clinical outcome in breast cancer: a validation study. Mod Pathol, *17:* 1545-54, 2004.

Monninkhof, E. M., Elias, S. G., Vlems, F. A., van der Tweel, I., Schuit, A. J. et al. Physical activity and breast cancer: a systematic review. Epidemiology, 18: 137-57, 2007.

Moradi, T., Adami, H. O., Ekbom, A., Wedren, S., Terry, P. et al. Physical activity and risk for breast cancer a prospective cohort study among Swedish twins. Int J Cancer, *100:* 76-81, 2002.

Morimoto, L. M., White, E., Chen, Z., Chlebowski, R. T., Hays, J. et al. Obesity, body size, and risk of postmenopausal breast cancer: the Women's Health Initiative (United States). Cancer Causes Control, *13*: 741-51, 2002.

Moroy, T., and Geisen, C. Cyclin E. Int J Biochem Cell Biol, 36: 1424-39, 2004.

Mosselman, S., Polman, J., and Dijkema, R. ER beta: identification and characterization of a novel human estrogen receptor. FEBS Lett, 392: 49-53, 1996.

Mouridsen, H. T. Incidence and management of side effects associated with aromatase inhibitors in the adjuvant treatment of breast cancer in postmenopausal women. Curr Med Res Opin, 22: 1609-21, 2006.

Murphy, L. C., Leygue, E., Niu, Y., Snell, L., Ho, S. M. et al. Relationship of coregulator and oestrogen receptor isoform expression to de novo tamoxifen resistance in human breast cancer. Br J Cancer, 87: 1411-6, 2002.

Murphy, L. C., and Watson, P. H. Is oestrogen receptor-beta a predictor of endocrine therapy responsiveness in human breast cancer? Endocr Relat Cancer, 13: 327-34, 2006.

Nagel, G., Altenburg, H. P., Nieters, A., Boffetta, P., and Linseisen, J. Reproductive and dietary determinants of the age at menopause in EPIC-Heidelberg. Maturitas, *52*: 337-47, 2005.

Nagel, G., Lahmann, P. H., Schulz, M., Boeing, H., and Linseisen, J. Use of hormone replacement therapy (HRT) among women aged 45-64 years in the German EPIC-cohorts. Maturitas, *56*: 436-46, 2007.

Nakata, T., Takashima, S., Shiotsu, Y., Murakata, C., Ishida, H. et al. Role of steroid sulfatase in local formation of estrogen in post-menopausal breast cancer patients. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol, *86*: 455-60, 2003.

Navarrete, M. A., Maier, C. M., Falzoni, R., Quadros, L. G., Lima, G. R. et al. Assessment of the proliferative, apoptotic and cellular renovation indices of the human mammary epithelium during the follicular and luteal phases of the menstrual cycle. Breast Cancer Res, *7*: R306-13, 2005.

Ness, G. C., and Chambers, C. M. Feedback and hormonal regulation of hepatic 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase: the concept of cholesterol buffering capacity. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med, 224: 8-19, 2000.

Nielsen, N. H., Arnerlov, C., Emdin, S. O., and Landberg, G. Cyclin E overexpression, a negative prognostic factor in breast cancer with strong correlation to oestrogen receptor status. Br J Cancer, 74: 874-80, 1996.

Nielsen, N. H., Loden, M., Cajander, J., Emdin, S. O., and Landberg, G. G1-S transition defects occur in most breast cancers and predict outcome. Breast Cancer Res Treat, *56*: 105-12, 1999.

Nielsen, T. G., Olsen, A., Christensen, J., Overvad, K., and Tjonneland, A. Dietary carbohydrate intake is not associated with the breast cancer incidence rate ratio in postmenopausal Danish women. J Nutr, *135:* 124-8, 2005.

Nordenskjold, B., Rosell, J., Rutqvist, L. E., Malmstrom, P. O., Bergh, J. et al. Coronary heart disease mortality after 5 years of adjuvant tamoxifen therapy: results from a randomized trial. J Natl Cancer Inst, *97:* 1609-10, 2005.

Novotny, J. A., Rumpler, W. V., Riddick, H., Hebert, J. R., Rhodes, D. et al. Personality characteristics as predictors of underreporting of energy intake on 24-hour dietary recall interviews. J Am Diet Assoc, *103*: 1146-51, 2003.

Ogawa, S., Inoue, S., Watanabe, T., Hiroi, H., Orimo, A. et al. The complete primary structure of human estrogen receptor beta (hER beta) and its heterodimerization with ER alpha in vivo and in vitro. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, *243:* 122-6, 1998.

Ogawa, S., Inoue, S., Watanabe, T., Orimo, A., Hosoi, T. et al. Molecular cloning and characterization of human estrogen receptor betacx: a potential inhibitor of estrogen action in human. Nucleic Acids Res, *26*: 3505-12, 1998.

Onland-Moret, N. C., Peeters, P. H., van der Schouw, Y. T., Grobbee, D. E., and van Gils, C. H. Alcohol and endogenous sex steroid levels in postmenopausal women: a cross-sectional study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, *90:* 1414-9, 2005.

Ormandy, C. J., Musgrove, E. A., Hui, R., Daly, R. J., and Sutherland, R. L. Cyclin D1, EMS1 and 11q13 amplification in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 78: 323-35, 2003.

Osborne, C. K. Steroid hormone receptors in breast cancer management. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 51: 227-38, 1998.

Osborne, C. K., Yochmowitz, M. G., Knight, W. A., 3rd, and McGuire, W. L. The value of estrogen and progesterone receptors in the treatment of breast cancer. Cancer, 46: 2884-8, 1980.

Overgaard, M., Hansen, P. S., Overgaard, J., Rose, C., Andersson, M. et al. Postoperative radiotherapy in highrisk premenopausal women with breast cancer who receive adjuvant chemotherapy. Danish Breast Cancer Cooperative Group 82b Trial. N Engl J Med, *337:* 949-55, 1997.

Overgaard, M., Jensen, M. B., Overgaard, J., Hansen, P. S., Rose, C. et al. Postoperative radiotherapy in highrisk postmenopausal breast-cancer patients given adjuvant tamoxifen: Danish Breast Cancer Cooperative Group DBCG 82c randomised trial. Lancet, *353*: 1641-8, 1999.

Paech, K., Webb, P., Kuiper, G. G., Nilsson, S., Gustafsson, J. et al. Differential ligand activation of estrogen receptors ERalpha and ERbeta at AP1 sites. Science, *277:* 1508-10, 1997.

Palmieri, C., Cheng, G. J., Saji, S., Zelada-Hedman, M., Warri, A. et al. Estrogen receptor beta in breast cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer, 9: 1-13, 2002.

Paoletti, X., and Clavel-Chapelon, F. Induced and spontaneous abortion and breast cancer risk: results from the E3N cohort study. Int J Cancer, *106*: 270-6, 2003.

Patella, A., Marziani, R., Schippa, A., Benedetti, S., Mossa, S. et al. Breast density changes associated with hormone replacement therapy in postmenopausal women. Effects on the specificity and sensitivity of mammographic screening. Eur J Gynaecol Oncol, *26:* 485-90, 2005.

Pavao, M., and Traish, A. M. Estrogen receptor antibodies: specificity and utility in detection, localization and analyses of estrogen receptor alpha and beta. Steroids, 66: 1-16, 2001.

Perneger, T. V. What's wrong with Bonferroni adjustments. Bmj, 316: 1236-8, 1998.

Pharoah, P. D., Tyrer, J., Dunning, A. M., Easton, D. F., and Ponder, B. A. Association between common variation in 120 candidate genes and breast cancer risk. PLoS Genet, *3:* e42, 2007.

Piccart-Gebhart, M. J. Adjuvant trastuzumab therapy for HER2-overexpressing breast cancer: what we know and what we still need to learn. Eur J Cancer, 42: 1715-9, 2006.

Piccart-Gebhart, M. J., Procter, M., Leyland-Jones, B., Goldhirsch, A., Untch, M. et al. Trastuzumab after adjuvant chemotherapy in HER2-positive breast cancer. N Engl J Med, *353*: 1659-72, 2005.

Planas-Silva, M. D., and Weinberg, R. A. Estrogen-dependent cyclin E-cdk2 activation through p21 redistribution. Mol Cell Biol, *17*: 4059-69, 1997.

Pozner-Moulis, S., Cregger, M., Camp, R. L., and Rimm, D. L. Antibody validation by quantitative analysis of protein expression using expression of Met in breast cancer as a model. Lab Invest, 87: 251-60, 2007.

Prentice, R. L. Measurement error and results from analytic epidemiology: dietary fat and breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst, 88: 1738-47, 1996.

Prentice, R. L., Caan, B., Chlebowski, R. T., Patterson, R., Kuller, L. H. et al. Low-fat dietary pattern and risk of invasive breast cancer: the Women's Health Initiative Randomized Controlled Dietary Modification Trial. Jama, *295:* 629-42, 2006.

Reeves, G. K., Pirie, K., Beral, V., Green, J., Spencer, E. et al. Cancer incidence and mortality in relation to body mass index in the Million Women Study: cohort study. Bmj, 2007.

Rennstam, K., and Hedenfalk, I. High-throughput genomic technology in research and clinical management of breast cancer. Molecular signatures of progression from benign epithelium to metastatic breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res, *8*: 213, 2006.

Resnitzky, D., Gossen, M., Bujard, H., and Reed, S. I. Acceleration of the G1/S phase transition by expression of cyclins D1 and E with an inducible system. Mol Cell Biol, *14*: 1669-79, 1994.

Revillion, F., Bonneterre, J., and Peyrat, J. P. ERBB2 oncogene in human breast cancer and its clinical significance. Eur J Cancer, 34: 791-808, 1998.

Rinaldi, S., Key, T. J., Peeters, P. H., Lahmann, P. H., Lukanova, A. et al. Anthropometric measures, endogenous sex steroids and breast cancer risk in postmenopausal women: a study within the EPIC cohort. Int J Cancer, *118*: 2832-9, 2006.

Rose, D. P. Dietary Fat, Fatty Acids and Breast Cancer. Breast Cancer, 4: 7-16, 1997.

Rosenberg, L. U., Einarsdottir, K., Friman, E. I., Wedren, S., Dickman, P. W. et al. Risk factors for hormone receptor-defined breast cancer in postmenopausal women. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, *15:* 2482-8, 2006.

Rossouw, J. E., Anderson, G. L., Prentice, R. L., LaCroix, A. Z., Kooperberg, C. et al. Risks and benefits of estrogen plus progestin in healthy postmenopausal women: principal results From the Women's Health Initiative randomized controlled trial. Jama, *288*: 321-33, 2002.

Rudolph, P., Olsson, H., Bonatz, G., Ratjen, V., Bolte, H. et al. Correlation between p53, c-erbB-2, and topoisomerase II alpha expression, DNA ploidy, hormonal receptor status and proliferation in 356 node-negative breast carcinomas: prognostic implications. J Pathol, *187:* 207-16, 1999.

Russo, I. H. Cigarette smoking and risk of breast cancer in women. Lancet, 360: 1033-4, 2002.

Russo, J., and Russo, I. H. The role of estrogen in the initiation of breast cancer. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol, 102: 89-96, 2006.

Sacchini, V., Zurrida, S., Andreoni, G., Luini, A., Galimberti, V. et al. Pathologic and biological prognostic factors of breast cancers in short- and long-term hormone replacement therapy users. Ann Surg Oncol, *9*: 266-71, 2002.

Saltiki, K., and Alevizaki, M. Coronary heart disease in postmenopausal women; the role of endogenous estrogens and their receptors. Hormones (Athens), *6*: 9-24, 2007.

Shaaban, A. M., O'Neill, P. A., Davies, M. P., Sibson, R., West, C. R. et al. Declining estrogen receptor-beta expression defines malignant progression of human breast neoplasia. Am J Surg Pathol, 27: 1502-12, 2003.

Shaaban, A. M., Sloane, J. P., West, C. R., and Foster, C. S. Breast cancer risk in usual ductal hyperplasia is defined by estrogen receptor-alpha and Ki-67 expression. Am J Pathol, *160:* 597-604, 2002.

Shannon, C., and Smith, I. E. Breast cancer in adolescents and young women. Eur J Cancer, *39:* 2632-42, 2003.

Shaw, J. A., Udokang, K., Mosquera, J. M., Chauhan, H., Jones, J. L. et al. Oestrogen receptors alpha and beta differ in normal human breast and breast carcinomas. J Pathol, *198*: 450-7, 2002.

Sherman, M. E., Rimm, D. L., Yang, X. R., Chatterjee, N., Brinton, L. A. et al. Variation in breast cancer hormone receptor and HER2 levels by etiologic factors: a population-based analysis. Int J Cancer, *121*: 1079-85, 2007.

Shiau, A. K., Barstad, D., Loria, P. M., Cheng, L., Kushner, P. J. et al. The structural basis of estrogen receptor/coactivator recognition and the antagonism of this interaction by tamoxifen. Cell, *95:* 927-37, 1998.

Sicinski, P., Donaher, J. L., Parker, S. B., Li, T., Fazeli, A. et al. Cyclin D1 provides a link between development and oncogenesis in the retina and breast. Cell, 82: 621-30, 1995.

Silvera, S. A., Jain, M., Howe, G. R., Miller, A. B., and Rohan, T. E. Energy balance and breast cancer risk: a prospective cohort study. Breast Cancer Res Treat, *97:* 97-106, 2006.

Simpson, P. T., Reis-Filho, J. S., Gale, T., and Lakhani, S. R. Molecular evolution of breast cancer. J Pathol, 205: 248-54, 2005.

Singletary, K. W., and Gapstur, S. M. Alcohol and breast cancer: review of epidemiologic and experimental evidence and potential mechanisms. Jama, 286: 2143-51, 2001.

Skliris, G. P., Munot, K., Bell, S. M., Carder, P. J., Lane, S. et al. Reduced expression of oestrogen receptor beta in invasive breast cancer and its re-expression using DNA methyl transferase inhibitors in a cell line model. J Pathol, *201*: 213-20, 2003.

Slingerland, J., and Pagano, M. Regulation of the cdk inhibitor p27 and its deregulation in cancer. J Cell Physiol, 183: 10-7, 2000.

Smith, R. E. A review of selective estrogen receptor modulators and national surgical adjuvant breast and bowel project clinical trials. Semin Oncol, *30*: 4-13, 2003.

Sonestedt, E., Gullberg, B., and Wirfalt, E. Both food habit change in the past and obesity status may influence the association between dietary factors and postmenopausal breast cancer. Public Health Nutr, *10:* 769-79, 2007.

Soyal, S., Ismail, P. M., Li, J., Mulac-Jericevic, B., Conneely, O. M. et al. Progesterone's role in mammary gland development and tumorigenesis as disclosed by experimental mouse genetics. Breast Cancer Res, *4*: 191-6, 2002.

Speirs, V., Carder, P. J., Lane, S., Dodwell, D., Lansdown, M. R. et al. Oestrogen receptor beta: what it means for patients with breast cancer. Lancet Oncol, 5: 174-81, 2004.
Signe Borgquist

Sprague, B. L., Trentham-Dietz, A., Newcomb, P. A., Titus-Ernstoff, L., Hampton, J. M. et al. Lifetime recreational and occupational physical activity and risk of in situ and invasive breast cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, *16*: 236-43, 2007.

Spyratos, F., Ferrero-Pous, M., Trassard, M., Hacene, K., Phillips, E. et al. Correlation between MIB-1 and other proliferation markers: clinical implications of the MIB-1 cutoff value. Cancer, 94: 2151-9, 2002.

Stendahl, M., Kronblad, A., Ryden, L., Emdin, S., Bengtsson, N. O. et al. Cyclin D1 overexpression is a negative predictive factor for tamoxifen response in postmenopausal breast cancer patients. Br J Cancer, *90:* 1942-8, 2004.

Stendahl, M., Ryden, L., Nordenskjold, B., Jonsson, P. E., Landberg, G. et al. High progesterone receptor expression correlates to the effect of adjuvant tamoxifen in premenopausal breast cancer patients. Clin Cancer Res, *12*: 4614-8, 2006.

Sutherland, R. L., and Musgrove, E. A. Cyclins and breast cancer. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia, 9: 95-104, 2004.

Suzuki, R., Rylander-Rudqvist, T., Ye, W., Saji, S., and Wolk, A. Body weight and postmenopausal breast cancer risk defined by estrogen and progesterone receptor status among Swedish women: A prospective cohort study. Int J Cancer, *119*: 1683-9, 2006.

Suzuki, R., Ye, W., Rylander-Rudqvist, T., Saji, S., Colditz, G. A. et al. Alcohol and postmenopausal breast cancer risk defined by estrogen and progesterone receptor status: a prospective cohort study. J Natl Cancer Inst, *97:* 1601-8, 2005.

Swanson, C. A., Brinton, L. A., Taylor, P. R., Licitra, L. M., Ziegler, R. G. et al. Body size and breast cancer risk assessed in women participating in the Breast Cancer Detection Demonstration Project. Am J Epidemiol, *130*: 1133-41, 1989.

Taubes, G. Nutrition. The soft science of dietary fat. Science, 291: 2536-45, 2001.

Thompson, H. J., Jiang, W., and Zhu, Z. Mechanisms by which energy restriction inhibits carcinogenesis. Adv Exp Med Biol, *470*: 77-84, 1999.

Thurlimann, B., Keshaviah, A., Coates, A. S., Mouridsen, H., Mauriac, L. et al. A comparison of letrozole and tamoxifen in postmenopausal women with early breast cancer. N Engl J Med, *353*: 2747-57, 2005.

Tjonneland, A., Thomsen, B. L., Stripp, C., Christensen, J., Overvad, K. et al. Alcohol intake, drinking patterns and risk of postmenopausal breast cancer in Denmark: a prospective cohort study. Cancer Causes Control, *14*: 277-84, 2003.

Tooze, J. A., Subar, A. F., Thompson, F. E., Troiano, R., Schatzkin, A. et al. Psychosocial predictors of energy underreporting in a large doubly labeled water study. Am J Clin Nutr, *79:* 795-804, 2004.

Trentham-Dietz, A., Newcomb, P. A., Storer, B. E., Longnecker, M. P., Baron, J. et al. Body size and risk of breast cancer. Am J Epidemiol, *145:* 1011-9, 1997.

Trichopoulou, A., Toupadaki, N., Tzonou, A., Katsouyanni, K., Manousos, O. et al. The macronutrient composition of the Greek diet: estimates derived from six case-control studies. Eur J Clin Nutr, *47:* 549-58, 1993.

Ursin, G., Pike, M. C., Spicer, D. V., Porrath, S. A., and Reitherman, R. W. Can mammographic densities predict effects of tamoxifen on the breast? J Natl Cancer Inst, 88: 128-9, 1996.

van den Brandt, P. A., Spiegelman, D., Yaun, S. S., Adami, H. O., Beeson, L. et al. Pooled analysis of prospective cohort studies on height, weight, and breast cancer risk. Am J Epidemiol, *152:* 514-27, 2000.

van Diest, P. J., Michalides, R. J., Jannink, L., van der Valk, P., Peterse, H. L. et al. Cyclin D1 expression in invasive breast cancer. Correlations and prognostic value. Am J Pathol, *150:* 705-11, 1997.

van Diest, P. J., van der Wall, E., and Baak, J. P. Prognostic value of proliferation in invasive breast cancer: a review. J Clin Pathol, 57: 675-81, 2004.

van Duijnhoven, F. J., van Gils, C. H., Bezemer, I. D., Peeters, P. H., van der Schouw, Y. T. et al. Use of hormones in the menopausal transition period in the Netherlands between 1993 and 1997. Maturitas, *53:* 462-75, 2006.

Wang, T. C., Cardiff, R. D., Zukerberg, L., Lees, E., Arnold, A. et al. Mammary hyperplasia and carcinoma in MMTV-cyclin D1 transgenic mice. Nature, *369:* 669-71, 1994.

Webster, N. J., Green, S., Jin, J. R., and Chambon, P. The hormone-binding domains of the estrogen and glucocorticoid receptors contain an inducible transcription activation function. Cell, 54: 199-207, 1988.

Wee, C. C., McCarthy, E. P., Davis, R. B., and Phillips, R. S. Obesity and breast cancer screening. J Gen Intern Med, 19: 324-31, 2004.

Weigel, N. L., and Zhang, Y. Ligand-independent activation of steroid hormone receptors. J Mol Med, 76: 469-79, 1998.

Weihua, Z., Andersson, S., Cheng, G., Simpson, E. R., Warner, M. et al. Update on estrogen signaling. FEBS Lett, 546: 17-24, 2003.

Wejde, J., Blegen, H., and Larsson, O. Requirement for mevalonate in the control of proliferation of human breast cancer cells. Anticancer Res, *12*: 317-24, 1992.

Wenzel, C., Bartsch, R., Hussian, D., Pluschnig, U., Altorjai, G. et al. Invasive ductal carcinoma and invasive lobular carcinoma of breast differ in response following neoadjuvant therapy with epidoxorubicin and docetaxel + G-CSF. Breast Cancer Res Treat, *104*: 109-14, 2007.

Veronesi, U., Boyle, P., Goldhirsch, A., Orecchia, R., and Viale, G. Breast cancer. Lancet, 365: 1727-41, 2005.

Widakowich, C., de Azambuja, E., Gil, T., Cardoso, F., Dinh, P. et al. Molecular targeted therapies in breast cancer: where are we now? Int J Biochem Cell Biol, *39*: 1375-87, 2007.

Willett, W. C. Diet and health: what should we eat? Science, 264: 532-7, 1994.

Willett, W. C. Diet and breast cancer. J Intern Med, 249: 395-411, 2001.

Wirfalt, E., Mattisson, I., Gullberg, B., Johansson, U., Olsson, H. et al. Postmenopausal breast cancer is associated with high intakes of omega6 fatty acids (Sweden). Cancer Causes Control, *13*: 883-93, 2002.

Wolk, A., Bergstrom, R., Hunter, D., Willett, W., Ljung, H. et al. A prospective study of association of monounsaturated fat and other types of fat with risk of breast cancer. Arch Intern Med, *158*: 41-5, 1998.

Wynder, E. L., Cohen, L. A., Muscat, J. E., Winters, B., Dwyer, J. T. et al. Breast cancer: weighing the evidence for a promoting role of dietary fat. J Natl Cancer Inst, 89: 766-75, 1997.

Yasui, T., Uemura, H., Umino, Y., Takikawa, M., Saito, S. et al. Serum estrogen level after hormone replacement therapy and body mass index in postmenopausal and bilaterally ovariectomized women. Maturitas, *50:* 19-29, 2005.

Zackrisson, S., Andersson, I., Manjer, J., and Janzon, L. Non-attendance in breast cancer screening is associated with unfavourable socio-economic circumstances and advanced carcinoma. Int J Cancer, *108:* 754-60, 2004.

Zaczek, A., Brandt, B., and Bielawski, K. P. The diverse signaling network of EGFR, HER2, HER3 and HER4 tyrosine kinase receptors and the consequences for therapeutic approaches. Histol Histopathol, *20:* 1005-15, 2005.

Zhang, D., Salto-Tellez, M., Putti, T. C., Do, E., and Koay, E. S. Reliability of tissue microarrays in detecting protein expression and gene amplification in breast cancer. Mod Pathol, *16*: 79-84, 2003.

Zhang, S. M., Lee, I. M., Manson, J. E., Cook, N. R., Willett, W. C. et al. Alcohol consumption and breast cancer risk in the Women's Health Study. Am J Epidemiol, *165:* 667-76, 2007.

Zhu, Z., Jiang, W., and Thompson, H. J. Effect of energy restriction on the expression of cyclin D1 and p27 during premalignant and malignant stages of chemically induced mammary carcinogenesis. Mol Carcinog, *24*: 241-5, 1999.

Ziegler, R. G., Hoover, R. N., Pike, M. C., Hildesheim, A., Nomura, A. M. et al. Migration patterns and breast cancer risk in Asian-American women. J Natl Cancer Inst, 85: 1819-27, 1993.

Signe Borgquist

Original papers (I-V)